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Dear Fellow Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Moiselle
International Holdings Limited (“Moiselle” or the “Company”), |
present the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (which
are collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2023 (the “Year”).

MARKET OVERVIEW

During the Year under review, the apparel retail markets in Hong
Kong and Mainland China experienced downturns in a volatile
and complicated business environment, which was marked by
irrepressibly high inflation, interest rate hikes by major central
banks as a response, escalating geopolitical conflicts and, in the
case of China, the government’s tighter regulation of the property
and technology sectors and its zero-Covid policy that have

combined to cause an economic slowdown.

In Hong Kong, where Moiselle derived about 55% of its revenue,
a recovery in the apparel retail market fell short of expectations
because the mainland Chinese tourists who returned to the city
after the full reopening of the border between the two places in
February 2023 did not have as strong buying power as they used
to have before the pandemic outbreak. For one thing, Mainland
China has always accounted for a vast majority of the visitor
arrivals in Hong Kong and its outbound tourists had buoyed up
the city’s consumer market. The Mainland Chinese tourists’
weaker buying power had a considerable impact on the city’s
apparel retail sales. Moreover, the return of the Mainland Chinese
tourists to the city in a larger number happened only towards the
end of the Company’s financial year under review and that
number also fell short of expectations. It was because the
country’s outbound tourists preferred foreign countries to Hong
Kong upon the relaxation of the about three-year long quarantine
requirements for cross-border travellers. This means that Hong
Kong’s retailers lost some of its Mainland Chinese customers to
those in other tourist destinations. Although the total visitor
arrivals in the city rocketed by 561.5% to 604,564 in 2022 on an
extremely low comparison base and due to the Hong Kong
government’s more relaxed quarantine measures for inbound

travellers, the figure was merely a tiny fraction of the
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pre-pandemic level of about 55.91 million in 2019 (source: Hong
Kong Tourism Board quoting the data from the Immigration
Department of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(“HKSAR”)). The number of the inbound tourists is still far from
being enough to enable the retailers to make up for the decline in
business. Hong Kong’s retail market, which had previously
benefited from the immense number of inbound travellers before
the pandemic outbreak, had to depend on the local customers to
a higher extent for its revival. Nevertheless, the value of retail
sales of wearing apparel at retail outlets in the city, which had
enjoyed a robust rebound of 22.06% in 2021 on the back of the
revived local consumption amid easing anti-pandemic measures,
lost its momentum in 2022, decreasing by approximately 9.04%
to about HK$29.56 billion (source: The Census and Statistics
Department of the HKSAR). In Macau, the situation was similarly
difficult as the government was compelled to impose a 12-day
lockdown in the city in July 2022 upon the resurgence of the
pandemic. In Mainland China, economic growth was slowing
down in 2022 due to the government’s zero-Covid policy and
tighter regulation of the property and technology sectors. The
latter measures led to the property market slump and downsizing
at some technology firms respectively. This dampened the
consumer sentiment. The value of retail of apparel, shoes,
headwear and knitted products in the country declined by 6.5%
to approximately RMB1.3 trillion in 2022 (source: National
Bureau of Statistics of the People’s Republic of China).

The rise of a younger generation of consumers whose
consumption behaviour and preferences are different from those
of the older generations, and the advent of information
technologies such as the internet, electronic commerce and social
media have reshaped the fashion apparel industry in recent years.
Gearing fashion apparel more towards the younger generation and
making full use of the information technologies to promote and

sell the products are the way forward for the industry.

Moiselle International Holdings Limited. % i B B % Ml f B 2 v
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RESULTS

Moiselle mainly engages in retailing women’s fashion apparel to
high-end and upper-middle markets but is also gearing more
towards the design and sale of on-trend apparel targeted at the
younger generation of customers. For the Year, the Company
still recorded a loss due to the protracted Covid-19 pandemic.
However, its operating loss narrowed by about 44% to HK$25
million for the Year thanks to the governments’ relaxation and
later abolition of anti-pandemic measures. In Hong Kong, where
Moiselle derived a considerable percentage of its total sales
revenues, the ending of the social distancing measures
encouraged more locals to go out and thus to dress for social
gatherings while the full reopening of the border between
Mainland China and Hong Kong towards the end of the
Company’s financial year under review helped to boost its
business with inbound tourists to a certain extent. The one-off
subsidies that the Group received during the first half of the Year
from the HKSAR government under the Employment Support
Scheme that was aimed at helping businesses get through the
difficulties caused by the pandemic was also a minor contributor
to the narrowing of the operating loss. However, the loss of
HK$43 million recorded by the Group for the Year was larger
than the operating loss due to a considerable decline in the total
value of the Company’s investment properties in a revaluation in
the light of a bleaker prospect for business after the pace of the
anticipated recovery in Hong Kong’s consumer market and the
speed of the return of inbound tourists to the city failed to meet
expectations. Other factors that also contributed to the decline
in the total value of such properties in the revaluation included
the persistently weak economy, irrepressibly high inflation and
high prime rates. The higher finance cost amid the prime rate

hikes in Hong Kong also weighed on the profitability.
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The uneven performances of the Group’s operations in various
geographical markets amid the pandemic resulted in an 8%
decrease in turnover to HK$128 million for the Year. The
Group's operations in Hong Kong were a bright spot, recording
a 21% increase in revenue for the Year while those in Mainland
China, Macau and Taiwan recorded decreases of 25%, 30% and

27% respectively in revenues.

The Group’s operations in Hong Kong accounted for 55% of its
revenue while those in Mainland China contributed to 25%.
Operations in Macau and Taiwan made up 13% and 7%
respectively of the Group’s revenue. Gross profit margin was
73% for the Year, compared with the 70% for the previous
financial year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Previous Financial

Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the Year, the Group forged ahead with its business
transformation initiatives that it had adopted in the past four
years to adapt itself to the fundamental changes in the fashion
market and the complicated, volatile business environment. It
continued with the repositioning of its house brand MOISELLE,
and kept on developing electronic commerce and rationalizing
its retail network. In addition, it took advantage of the HKSAR
government’s relaxed anti-pandemic measures by conducting
small-scale handicraft courses at its stores and holding
mini-fashion shows at dining events in restaurants with the aim
of attracting more new customers of a younger generation to
both its on-trend and high-end fashion apparel. It also organized
catwalk shows at dinners on the days of festivals to demonstrate

new products.

There has been a growing trend of a predominance of the
younger generation of consumers, who prefer mid-range,
on-trend fashion apparel of simpler design to the classic one of
elaborate design, in the customer base. To tap that expanding
market segment, the Group has repositioned its major house
brand MOISELLE as a brand that accentuates the beauty of Asian

women'’s silhouette through two fashion lines, namely the classic
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and elegant fashion apparel on the one hand and the on-trend
and unique fashion apparel that projects a youthful image on the
other hand since 2020. It enriched the concept of its
repositioning by inventing a theme for marketing its seasonal
collection which was about manifesting the wearers’
personalities and self-awakening in the financial year ended 31
March 2021. The concept is summed up in a slogan “C’est MO,
MOISELLE” (“EBLRF 5" in Chinese). Gearing its products more
towards the younger generation of customers, the Group
increased the portion of mid-range, on-trend and unique fashion
apparel from about 30% of the total number of stock keeping
units (“SKU”) in the financial year ended 31 March 2020 to the
optimal level of about 50% for the preceding two financial years
ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 and for the Year. In
December 2022, the Group launched its special fall/winter
collection under the theme “M26” in 100 SKUs to celebrate its
26th anniversary in year 2023. The products come in two
versions, namely fashionable clothes with elegant and elaborate
designs which were available in only one or two units for each
SKU, and their simpler versions which were produced in large
quantities. In November 2022, the Group also launched its
winter collection, which was based on the concept of
accentuating the beauty of Asian women’s silhouette, featured
designs that included exquisite, elaborate embroidery and
combined the cultural elements of the East and the West. The
winter collection manifests the “effortless elegance” of female
entrepreneurs and female leaders in industry and commerce who
are modern in outlook, art-loving and environmentally
conscious. The Group has also adapted its products to the
situation of the pandemic by introducing fashion apparel of
simpler design and of antibacterial, washable or inexpensive
material to the market as more people worked from home and
were more conscious of hygiene. Overall, it broadened both the
product range and price range to better meet the more varied

wants and needs of the customers.

In response to the growing popularity of electronic commerce
and the increasing use of internet for obtaining information
about fashion trends, the Group had opened two online

platforms respectively for the marketing and sales of the
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MOISELLE products for its Hong Kong operations and for the
retailing of its diffusion lines under such brands as m.d.m.s.,
GERMAIN and LANCASTER for its Hong Kong-based concept
store, M CONZEPT in the preceding two financial years. The
move would enable the Group to run its business more
cost-effectively and to reach out more easily to the younger
generation of consumers, who increasingly predominate in the
customer base. In Mainland China, the Group continued to
develop its electronic commerce business through its separate
alliances with three local electronic commerce website
operators, namely CloudHappy Mall (“ZEEH” in Chinese),
VIP.com which specializes in online discount sales and is
operated by Vipshop (“ME” in Chinese) and Tmall. Such
online platforms for sales and marketing can be combined with
the Group’s mobile phone-enabled application to build up a
customer base and carry out precision marketing. Furthermore,
the Group also conducted short-term cooperation with other
online shopping website operators such as OnThelList which

specializes in flash sales.

To capitalize on the growing influence of electronic commerce
and to deal with the difficulties of running physical stores amid
the pandemic and economic slowdown, the Group had already
adjusted its strategy for running its store network. In the Previous
Financial Year, it decided to maintain its business presence in its
various geographical markets to an optimal minimum - it no
longer opened as many stores as before in the traditional large
shopping malls, but basically maintained one store in each of
the Mainland Chinese cities where it operated, and rented shop
spaces on short leases which offered the Group more flexibility
in adjusting the scale of its store network. This was in addition
to the ongoing rationalization of the Group’s retail network. The
Group continued to close down some underperforming stores
and opened new ones in places with good prospect.
Furthermore, it continued to negotiate for rent concessions for
shop spaces. In Hong Kong, the rents for shop spaces, which
had been almost halved in 2022, rebounded to about 80% of the

pre-pandemic levels in the first five months of 2023 as the
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landlords were no longer ready to give rent concessions in
anticipation of a recovery in the retail market. The landlords
also preferred to shorten the term of the leases so that they
would be able to raise the rents once the retail market fully
recovered. The Group was prudently seeking for shop spaces
with good prospect at reasonable rents. It had also enhanced the
shopping experience at its stores by incorporating such elements
as environmental awareness, quality lifestyle and art into the

interior decoration.

OUTLOOK

Although governments in many countries have already scrapped
anti-pandemic measures, the apparel retail markets in which the
Group is operating have yet to fully recover and are still faced
with challenging problems such as weak economy, high inflation
and high prime rates in addition to the fundamental changes in

them.

Nevertheless, there are hopes of recovery in the economies of
Mainland China and Hong Kong in 2023 even if they would
probably be growing more slowly than they had done in the past
before the pandemic outbreaks. Therefore, the Group remained
cautiously optimistic about the prospect of the fashion apparel
retail industry and has been preparing to take advantage of the
improvement in the market. In the past four years, the Group has
repositioned its major house brand MOISELLE to cater for the
preferences and consumption patterns of a younger generation
of customers, sped up the development of its electronic
commerce business with the help of social media, mobile
application and alliances with online shopping platform
operators, and pursued the strategy of running its store network

at an optimal minimum as part of its rationalization drive.

While it has taken a prudent approach to business development
during the difficult business environment in the past several
years by stepping up cost control measures, developing its retail
network more prudently and building up its electronic
commerce business as a more cost-effective means of sales and
marketing, it is also seeking to expand its retail network in Hong

Kong by opening new shops at some places with good prospect
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at reasonable rents. For instance, it opened a store for an
international brand LANCASTER at a shopping mall called
MOKO at a multicomplex named Grand Century Place in Mong
Kok in December 2022, and opened a MOISELLE store in New
Henry House in Central in May 2023. In Mainland China, the
Group will keep its store network to an optimal minimum by
basically maintaining one store in each of the cities where it
operates and continue to take out short leases on shop spaces so

that it can adjust the scale of its store network more flexibly.

All these measures are aimed at enhancing the Group’s
competitive strength and adaptability to the changes in the
market. The Group will monitor closely the economic conditions
and fashion trends in the markets and may adjust the above

plans accordingly.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all our
shareholders and our fellow business partners for their support,
and our management and staff for their hard work and

dedication to the Group during the Year.

Chan Yum Kit

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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OVERVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Targeting the markets for luxurious and mid-range apparel, the
Group operates such house brands as MOISELLE, m.d.m.s. and
CGERMAIN, while engaging in distributorship for international
brand LANCASTER. Each of the brands has its own distinctive
consumer base and is being developed separately by the Group's
dedicated and talented designer teams for house brands. The
Group retails its products under the various brands at stores in
prime locations. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 32 stores
and counters in Hong Kong, first- and second-tier cities of
Mainland China, Macau and Taiwan, down from 38 as at 31
March 2022. It closed some underperforming stores but also
opened some stores in places with good prospect to rationalize

its network of stores.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS BY LOCATION

Operations in Hong Kong

The Group’s operations in Hong Kong were a bright spot in its
overall business performance despite a downturn in the city’s
apparel retail market as they recorded an increase of 21% to
HK$70,846,000 in revenue for the Year, which accelerated from
the 6% growth in the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (the
“Previous Financial Year”). The faster growth in the revenue was
attributable to the HKSAR government’s relaxation and later
abolition of anti-pandemic measures. The ending of the social
distancing measures encouraged more locals to go out and thus
to dress for social gatherings while the full reopening of the
border between Mainland China and Hong Kong towards the end
of the Company’s financial year under review helped to boost its
business with inbound tourists to a certain extent. To capitalize
on the eased anti-pandemic measures, the Group conducted
small-scale handicraft courses at its stores and held mini-fashion
shows at dining events in restaurants with the aim of attracting
more new customers of a younger generation to both its on-trend
and high-end fashion apparel. It also organized catwalk shows at

dinners on the days of festivals to demonstrate new products.
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As to the development of its retail network in the city, the Group
had been prudently seeking for shop spaces with good prospect
at reasonable rents with the aim of capitalizing on a recovery in
the local apparel retail market. In December 2022, it opened a
shop for an international brand LANCASTER at a shopping mall
called MOKO at a multicomplex named Grand Century Place in
Mong Kok. To seek help in dealing with the difficult operating
environment, the Group negotiated with some landlords for rent
concessions or lower rents upon renewal of leases for some shop
spaces. It also applied to the HKSAR government for subsidies
under the second round of the Employment Support Scheme and

was granted such subsidies during the first half of the Year.

Meanwhile, the Group continued to develop its electronic
commerce business as a more cost-effective means of sales and
marketing. It had already opened two online platforms
respectively for the marketing and sales of the MOISELLE products
for its Hong Kong operations and for the retailing of its diffusion
lines under such brands as m.d.m.s., GERMAIN and LANCASTER
for its Hong Kong-based concept store, M CONZEPT in the
preceding two financial years. Moreover, it also continued to
conduct short-term cooperation with online shopping website
operators such as OnTheList which specializes in flash sales to

boost sales during the Year.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group operated 7 MOISELLE, 2
m.d.m.s., 2 LANCASTER and 2 M CONZEPT retail stores as well
as one outlet (As at 31 March 2022, the Group operated 8
MOISELLE, 2 m.d.m.s., 2 LANCASTER and 3 M CONZEPT retail

stores as well as one outlet).
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Operations in Mainland China

Revenue from the Group’s operations in Mainland China dropped
by 25% to HK$32,095,000 during the Year as consumer
sentiment was seriously affected by the country’s slowing
economic growth which had been triggered by the government’s
zero-Covid policy and tighter regulation of the property and
technology sectors. The latter measures led to a property market
slump and downsizing at some technology firms. Moreover, the
protracted Covid pandemic also affected the Group’s business

adversely in certain periods in the second half of the Year.

To cope with the volatile and complicated business environment
in the country, the Group pursued the strategy of keeping its store
network to an optimal minimum by basically maintaining one
store in each of the Mainland Chinese cities where it operates. It
also continued to rationalize its retail network in the country.
Following the closure of two underperforming stores, including
one in Shanghai and one in Hangzhou, and the opening of one
new store in Dalian during the Previous Financial Year, the
Group closed one store in Xi’an, Shaanxi province, one store in
Shenzhen, one store in Shanghai and one store in Guangzhou
during the Year, but opened one store in a different location in
Xi’an in June 2022, one store in a different location in Shenzhen
in August 2022, one store in Hefei, Anhui province in October
2022, one store at No.1 Yaohan in Shanghai in November 2022
and one store at Guangzhou Friendship Store in Guangzhou,
Guangdong province in December 2022. The Group also
continued with the effort to reduce the cost of renting shop
spaces. Under the Group’s lease agreements with some landlords
at some of its stores, the rents were charged as certain
percentages of the revenue from sales. This made it easier for the
Group to sustain the retail business at the brick-and-mortar

stores.

To capitalize on the growing trend of electronic commerce in
Mainland China, the Group had already formed separate
alliances with three online shopping website operators, including

CloudHappy Mall, Vipshop and Tmall in the past several years.
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As at 31 March 2023, the Group operated 11 MOISELLE retail
stores in the country (As at 31 March 2022, the Group operated
10 MOISELLE retail stores in the country).

Operations in Macau

For the Year, turnover at the Group’s operations in Macau
dropped by 30% to HK$15,528,000 as business there was
affected by a 12-day lockdown imposed by the government in
July 2022 to cope with the resurgence of the pandemic. The
decrease in its revenue there was also attributable to the
Company’s scaled down retail network there in view of the
downturn in business. The Group closed down its M CONZEPT
store at the Parisian Macao Hotel at the end of August 2022 due
to lack of foot fall and business there. It also closed down its
m.d.m.s. store at the Venetian Macao Resort Hotel. As at 31
March 2023, the Group operated two shops in the city, namely 1
MOISELLE and 1 LANCASTER retail stores at the Venetian Macao
Resort Hotel (As at 31 March 2022: 1 M CONZEPT, 1 MOISELLE,
1 m.d.m.s. and 1 LANCASTER retail stores).

Operations in Taiwan

The protracted Covid-19 pandemic and the rapid deceleration of
Taiwan’s economic growth to 2.45% in 2022 from 6.53% in
2021 sent revenue at the Group’s operations there plunging by
27% to approximately HK$9,477,000, which accounted for about
7% of the Group’s turnover for the Year. The Group scaled down
its retail network in Taiwan and operated 3 MOISELLE and one
LANCASTER retail stores as well as one outlet there as at 31
March 2023 (As at 31 March 2022: 5 MOISELLE and 2
LANCASTER retail stores as well as one outlet).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overview

The Group’s turnover decreased by approximately 8% to
approximately HK$127,946,000 (2022: HK$138,526,000) during
the year ended 31 March 2023 as compared with 2022. The
revenue earned from Hong Kong segment increased by
approximately 21% to approximately HK$70,846,000 (2022:
HK$58,552,000). The relaxation of government measures had
contributed to increase in revenue of the segment under
improved traffic of customers at all points of sales. The segment
contributed to 55% (2022: 42%) of the Group’s total revenue.

The revenue of the segment outside Hong Kong decreased by
approximately 29% to approximately HK$57,100,000 (2022:
HK$79,974,000) during the year ended 31 March 2023 mainly
due to decreased in performance in Macau and the Mainland
China where as newly established retail network had not
reached breakeven level during the year. The segment
contribution decreased to 45% (2022: 58%) as a result.

During the year, the Group’s gross profit margin was
approximately 72.9%, as compared to 69.7% of the previous
year. Increase in gross profit margin reflected the stable business
with certain discounted sales and promotion activities during the
financial year. Operating expenses for the year ended 31 March
2023 totaled approximately HK$132,781,000, compared to
approximately HK$167,245,000 for 2022, decreased by
approximately 21%. Although the management had continued to
conduct various measures in stringent cost management to
counteract high operating expenses, mainly staff costs and rental
expenses, the Group suffered an operating loss of
HK$24,980,000 (2022: HK$44,469,000).

The loss attributable to the equity shareholders for the year
ended 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$42,857,000
(2022: HK$40,718,000), increased mainly due to the loss on

changes in fair value of investment properties.
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Liquidity and financial resources

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group financed its
operations with internally generated cash flows and bank
borrowings. The Group adopts a prudent financial policy such
that it can meet the financial obligations when they fall due and
maintain a sufficient operating fund for the development of the
Group’s business. At the end of the financial year, the Group’s
aggregate bank deposits and cash balances amounted to
approximately HK$14 million (2022: HK$14 million). Cash and
bank deposits were held mainly in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. The Group has foreign operations and certain of its
net assets are exposed to the risk of foreign currency exchange
rate fluctuations. The management regularly monitors the foreign
currency exchange risk of the Group and may consider hedging

activities when necessary.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group was granted aggregate
composite banking facilities of approximately HK$73 million
(2022: HK$73 million) by various commercial banks. Within the
overall banking facilities, the Group secured bank borrowings of
HK$37 million (2022: 13 million) at operating subsidiary level
financing its working capital as at 31 March 2023. The Group
was also benefited from the utilisation of banking facilities HK$4
million (2022: HK$8 million) such as bank guarantee as at 31
March 2023.

The Group ran into net current liabilities of HK$19 million as at
the year end (2022: HK$8 million), with current assets being less
than current liabilities. As at 31 March 2023, the gearing ratio
(aggregate of bank borrowings and lease liabilities divided by
shareholders’ equity) was approximately 14.2% (2022: 13.5%).

Charge on assets

As at 31 March 2023, land and buildings held for own use and
investment properties with a carrying value of approximately
HK$122 million (31 March 2022: HK$127 million) were pledged

to secure bank borrowings granted to the Group.

Moiselle International Holdings Limited. % i B B % Ml f B 2 v

17



o B IE B

Management Discussion and Analysis

==

R-ZFB-=ZF=ZA=+—-H FAEEHEA8R (=T
TZHE 3008 BT FERBERTERM o EEF M
HEHAERFH2KE EMBHBELAL HtESEANE
FRHELAES  FERBERBURIZIIERE -

REFOEZEDS HEABRREEXBFERRE

REBRT -BEETHLE MY (BEES  PER -
B RPIRIIK) 2B EBRERN  THORE
HENE (BRERR - BEREF) 2EANLER  DE
REESBEUELER -

BRTABRRFMEALKR2EBBRIN  AEETENE
THEEHEEFE -0 AEEERBEME  £EE
ZENEEXERBEREY BIREREREFRAZEEY
BEYE - FAEETRDERBRENAIEEZREET
EMERN TEERNEKERZBRESR - ZBERER
R WEMBEMEBRE -

AEEREEFEAREZ2EMZEN - BERIE
B AEEEFERFNEMBHEBERMIMERSRY
MER AR FHEEERIMERRVEEAERE
SRR MRS - I AEBMTERMBEEBERHF KR
MHEREREENBETREEERZE 2 AMRBEENR

EECHRE-

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 7

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed 285 (2022: 300)
employees mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Salaries
of employees are maintained at competitive levels while bonuses
are granted on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits
include mandatory provident fund, statutory and medical

insurance cover and training programmes.

COMMITMENT TO STAKEHOLDERS’ INTERESTS, SOCIETY’S
WELL-BEING AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The Group is committed to ensuring the rights and interests of its
stakeholders (including its shareholders, employees and
customers) and the well-being of society at large while
complying with all the laws and regulations of the places where
it has operations, including Hong Kong, Mainland China,

Taiwan, Macau and Singapore.

In addition to its business objective of maximizing returns to
shareholders, the Group also tries its best to fulfil its corporate
social responsibility. For instance, the Group ensures protection
of both environment and consumers against hazardous
substances throughout the process of conducting its business,
from raw material procurement, production to retail. The Group
also has taken measures to ensure that its factory in Longhua,
Shenzhen, complies with the local environmental regulations on
industrial emissions and effluents. The factory is only
responsible for sewing and is not engaged in any dyeing of

fabrics.

The Group believes in consumers’ entitlement to quality and
safe products. To attain this goal, the Group maintains
well-established relationships with trustworthy raw material
suppliers and processing factories, and delivers a sample of each
model of its products to Shenzhen Academy of Metrology and
Quality Inspection for inspection. Besides, the Group also
requires all business partners, raw material suppliers and
production vendors to fulfill all relevant legal and regulatory

requirements on product safety.

Annual Report 2023 4 4 #t



FEEMAEEBB= TRUEBEEBER  LRKER
NTPHBBTE2EBRR - AEBUREREESHON
B EMEREYRFBEMNEKEER-

FEERIFFEHERABURARF ZREERSR
BEFREBY - 2S8R RVIPEFPRABAFTNRE
HEREETY FAEETHEEZFRBLE ERRHK
ERTERBUREBBHNERHESEBREUEER
EEREEFEE-

MEETEHARERNEZBEENFNE - AKEDH
EERMSEFMREANLRELEM T 2RITE T X
PIREREHER - o AEBEETEBREELESR
REHE - ERBRIEZEZ 2 HBEEMRER - A&H
TREERMBEINEELNSERAEBEBHKRE -

FEBETEHIBEENZERERABEREBSERRE - fW
BMERATTESUARABRMERFAEHBMNRE ZE
B UARERERERZIRT  HAEMFARR AT EI
Z R M ESRF AR MK R AR EE R
A REERNERRRAZELEZNER  FEETSE
HREEBENANBERNER  TEEMANABERE -

FEZEEERERUBHAEEERSTERRE -

Annual Report 2023 44

o B Y w3 A

Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group now has over thirty suppliers and has business
relationship of more than a decade on average with each of
them. Such well-established business relationships with the
suppliers are attributable to the Group’s success in building their

trust in it with integrity and by honouring the contracts.

The Group has established a customer loyalty program in order
to enhance customer satisfaction as well as to encourage
repeated purchase. Under the membership program, the VIP
customers can enjoy special discounts and regular activities. It
also manages and maintains good customer relations through
customer service hotlines, after-sales supports as well as bespoke

service and communication with members via mails and emails.

Another group of stakeholders who are also key to the Group’s
success are its employees. The Group offers its staff reasonable
remuneration and benefits and protect their rights according to
the labour laws of the places where it has operations. For
instance, it complies with the relevant laws and regulations on
the employees’ provident fund pension scheme, employment
insurance and safety at work. It also provides training for them
that benefit the development of both their careers and the

Group's business.

The Group aims to accumulate resources for business and use
them effectively to ensure sustainable development. For
instance, it has been enhancing the brand equity of its house
brands and that of the European brand for which it is a
distributor by actively exploring new markets. It has also
allocated resources for the design, research and development of
products and the training of staff. The move was aimed at
manufacturing products of high quality and refreshing designs
with new and improved materials. It also serves to raise the
efficiency of the retail operations. The Group also tries its best to
protect its intellectual property rights and patents and respects

other parties’ intellectual property rights.

All these initiatives and measures can contribute to the

sustainability of the Group’s business.
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Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Yum Kit, aged 64, is the Chairman of the Company.
Mr. Chan is one of the co-founders of the Group and has overall
responsibility for the Group’s overall strategic planning,
formulation of corporate policies and marketing. He has over 46
years of experience in business administration in various
industries including garment manufacturing and trading.
Mr. Chan was awarded the Young Industrialist Awards of
Hongkong by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries in
November 2001 and was awarded with the DHL/SCMP Hong
Kong Business Award in the Owner-Operator Award category in
December 2001. He was awarded 2006 World Outstanding
Chinese Award by the World Chinese Business Investment
Foundation. He was also awarded 2004 Associateship by The
Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries in
January 2004. He is a senior fellow of Social Enterprise Research
Academy. He is currently an adjunct professor of, and a member
of the higher education advisory committee of, the faculty of
design and environment of Technological and Higher Education
Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is a member of Hong Kong
Young Industrialists Council, an honorary president of the island
regional association of the Hong Kong Girl Guides Association
and the vice-chairman of HK Guangxi Chamber of Commerce.
He is the husband of Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley and is the father
of Mr. Chan Sze Chun and Mr. Chan Pak Hei.
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Ms. TSUI How Kiu, Shirley, aged 64, is an executive director.
She is one of the co-founders of the Group and is the Group’s
vice-chairman. She is responsible for the Group’s merchandising
management and retail operations management. She has over 46
years of experience in business administration in various
industries including garment manufacturing and trading. She was
awarded Golden Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur Excellence
Award in November 2016. She is a member of Zonta Club of
New Territories, an honorary president and council member of
Hong Kong Federation of Women, a co-chairman of HK Tianjin
Women’s Federation, a member of HKFW Women Entrepreneurs
Committee, a delegate of All-China Women’s Federation,
Zhuhai, and an honorary president of All-China Women’s
Federation Hong Kong Delegates Association Limited, of the
island regional association of the Hong Kong Girl Guides
Association, and of Youth DreamMakers Association. Ms. Tsui is
the wife of Mr. Chan, Chairman of the Company, and is the
mother of Mr. Chan Sze Chun and Mr. Chan Pak Hei.

Mr. CHAN Sze Chun, aged 45, is an executive director. He
joined the Group in December 2000. He is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s overseas market operations. Mr. Chan
Sze Chun holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce from Monash
University of Australia. He is the son of Mr. Chan, Chairman of
the Company, and Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley, and is the brother
of Mr. Chan Pak Hei.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. YU Yuk Ying, Vivian, aged 63, is an independent
non-executive director appointed in January 2002. Ms. Yu is a
solicitor and a partner with Yung, Yu, Yuen & Co., a firm of
solicitors, and has been practising in Hong Kong for over 34
years with a focus in the conveyancing and commercial
practice. She obtained a bachelor’s degree in science from
University of Wisconsin-Madison as her first degree and then
passed the Solicitors’ Final Examination and qualified as a
solicitor. Ms. Yu has over 34 years’ experience in property
investment and management. She was appointed as
China-appointed Attesting Officer in 2003 and was also
appointed as notary public in December 2009. She is a founding
member of Hong Kong Professionals and Senior Executives

Association.

Mr. CHU Chun Kit, Sidney, aged 62, is an independent
non-executive director appointed in October 2003. Mr. Chu is
currently the CEO of Archiledture Limited. He has 32 years’
experience in international marketing and senior management
role in both the semiconductor and solid-state lighting
industries. Mr. Chu graduated from the University of Essex with
a bachelor’s degree in science (electronic engineering) and
received a master’s degree in science from the University of

Westminster, London.

Ms. WONG Shuk Ying, Helen (alias name: LEE Shuk Ying,
Helen), aged 69, is an independent non-executive director
appointed in September 2004. Ms. Wong is currently the
director of Kimeray Investment Limited. She has over 30 years’
experience in management consulting and systems
implementation in both the public and private sectors.
Ms. Wong is a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and holds a bachelor’s degree in
commerce from Queen’s University in Canada. She is a member
of the board of directors and the finance committee, and the
chairman of the information technology committee of Heep
Hong Society, and is the president of, and the chairman of the
information technology development committee of, Hong Kong
YWCA.
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Dr. Ng Lai Man Carmen, aged 58, is an independent
non-executive director appointed in April 2023. Dr. Ng has over
30 years of experience in professional accounting, corporate
finance and asset management service in Mainland China, Hong

Kong, Southeast Asia, Europe, Canada and the United States.

Dr. Ng is a practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong
and is currently a director of Cosmos CPA Limited, an audit and
advisory firm in Hong Kong, as well as the director and
responsible officer of Redwood Asset Management Limited, a
corporation licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission
to carry on regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). She is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the United Kingdom and The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Dr. Ng is also a fellow member of and a
Chartered Tax Adviser accredited by The Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong.

Dr. Ng received her Doctor degree in Business Administration
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Juris Doctor degree
in Law from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Master of
Laws in Corporate and Financial Laws from The University of
Hong Kong, Master of Business Administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong, Master of Professional Accounting
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University as well as Master of
Science in Global Finance jointly offered by Leonard N. Stern
School of Business of New York University and School of

Business of The Hong Kong University of Science & Technology.

Dr. Ng is currently an independent non-executive director of
eSun Holdings Limited (stock code: 571), Lion Rock Group
Limited (stock code: 1127) and Global International Credit
Group Limited (stock code: 1669), all being companies listed on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Senior Management

Mr. CHAN Pak Hei, aged 35, is the deputy chief executive
officer of the Group. He joined the Group in May 2009. He is
responsible for overseeing the Group’s overall operations and
design and development functions. In addition, he is also
responsible for the Group’s brand building, marketing and
interior design affairs. Mr. Chan Pak Hei holds a bachelor of arts
degree in fashion management (fashion retail) from University of
the Arts London of the United Kingdom. He is a member of
Hong Kong CPPCC Youth Association. He is the son of
Mr. Chan, Chairman of the Company, and Ms. Tsui How Kiu,
Shirley, and is the brother of Mr. Chan Sze Chun.

Ms. PANG Lin, aged 53, is the chief operating officer of the
Group and the company secretary of the Company. Prior to
joining the Group in June 2001, Ms. Pang served as a finance
manager and company secretary of a company listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. She
has over 32 years of experience in the audit, accounting and
finance, administration and corporate secretarial fields. She
holds a bachelor of arts degree in accountancy and a master’s
degree in business administration (fashion business) from Hong
Kong Polytechnic University, a master’s degree in corporate
governance from Hong Kong Metropolitan University and a
bachelor’s degree in Chinese law from Peking University. She is
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
of the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (“HKCGI”) and the Chartered Governance Institute of
the United Kingdom, a member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants of the United Kingdom and a holder

of the practitioner’s endorsement of HKCGI.
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Moiselle International Holdings Limited (the “company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “group”) is committed to meeting statutory and
regulatory requirements and adherence to the principles of
corporate governance emphasizing transparency, independence,

accountability, responsibility and fairness.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Save for the deviation of the Code Provision C.2.1 as below, the
company has complied with the code provisions listed in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.

Code Provision C.2.1

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. Currently,
Mr. Chan Yum Kit is the chairman of the board of directors (the
“Board”) and also assumes the role of the chief executive officer.
The Board considers that the current management structure
ensures consistent leadership and optimal efficiency for the
operation of the company. The company will however keep this

matter under review.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the company’s
code of conduct for dealings in securities of the company by the
directors. Based on specific enquiry of the company’s directors,
the directors have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible to provide leadership and control,
formulate the group’s business strategies, assess and address
risks in achieving the group’s objectives and uphold corporate
governance functions, including the aspects of environmental,
social and governance reporting. The Board has established the
group’s purposes and values and satisfied that these are aligned
with the desired culture. Corporate values are reinforced across
the group which stress on conducting all kinds of businesses in
lawful, ethical and responsible manners. Operational decision

making is delegated to the management team.

The Board comprises seven directors, three of which are
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Yum Kit (Chairman),
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley, and Mr. Chan Sze Chun, and four are
independent non-executive directors, namely Ms. Yu Yuk Ying,
Vivian, Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney, Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen,
and Dr. Ng Lai Man, Carmen (being appointed with effect from
1 April 2023).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, five board meetings
were held. One of the meetings was held in accordance with
Code Provision A.2.7 of the CG Code which states that the
Chairman should hold meeting with the independent
non-executive directors without the other directors of the
company present. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the meetings
were held in the form of video conference. The attendance of

each director is set out as follows:

R A 8%
Director Attendance record
Mr. Chan Yum Kit 5/5
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley 4/4
Mr. Chan Sze Chun 4/4
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 5/5
Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 5/5
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 5/5
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, one general meeting, the
annual general meeting, of the company was held. The

attendance of each director is set out as follows:

H AT 8%
Director Attendance record
Mr. Chan Yum Kit 1/1
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley 1”71
Mr. Chan Sze Chun 171
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 1/1
Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 11
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 1”71

The relationship among members of the Board is separately

disclosed in the directors and senior management profiles.

DIRECTORS” TRAINING
The directors have provided records of the training they received
during the year to the company. The details of training records

provided of each director are set out as follows:

FriEszsEdi R B HAlRHE P B

Training received and date Training provider Time spent

N E I a0 175 B — ] T A RV EUE BBESEY 2N
HEED

—E=H=ZAtTMA

How Knowledge Management can help a The Hong Kong Institute of Directors 2 hours
listed company to gain competitive
advantage

14 March 2023

N a0 15 B — B L T A RV EUS EREEEY 2/ B
BEED

“E-=f=ZAtMmA

How Knowledge Management can help a The Hong Kong Institute of Directors 2 hours

listed company to gain competitive

advantage
14 March 2023
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= FriEszsEdi R B BHAlRHE P 3 B
Director Training received and date Training provider Time spent
REELLEE Metaverse FI NFT# 201 5 £ &1 BBESET 2/
R
—E-_=%”"A+4HH
Mr. Chan Sze Chun How Metaverse and NFT will be The Hong Kong Institute of Directors 2 hours
impacting your Business Strategy
15 February 2023
REBHEE Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery &BEEES (BN
Regulatory
—2-=%-A+H
Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney Business Continuity and Disaster The Hong Kong Institute of Directors 1 hour
Recovery Regulatory
10 January 2023
ERRLL 20235 2HRRERE BEREEEE MBS
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen  Global Investment Outlook 2023 The Hong Kong Institute of Directors 1 hour
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In addition, Mr. Chan Sze Chun and Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney
provided the anti-corruption training records of self-study on the
website of Business Ethics Development of Independent
Commission Against Corruption during the year. Ms. Yu Yuk
Ying, Vivian had provided confirmation on her fulfillment of the
mandatory continuing professional development requirements of
The Law Society of Hong Kong during the year ended 31 March
2023.

TERM OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The independent non-executive directors were appointed for a
term of two years and are subject to retirement by rotation in

accordance with the articles of association of the company.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The company has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors a confirmation of independence for the
year ended 31 March 2023 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers all the independent non-executive directors

to be independent.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The company has a nomination committee which was
established in compliance with the CG Code. The members of
the nomination committee comprise two independent
non-executive directors of the company, Ms. Yu Yuk Ying,
Vivian (Chairperson) and Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen, and one

executive director, Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, one nomination
committee meeting was held. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
the meeting was held in the form of video conference. The

attendance of each committee member is set out as follows:

H FE AT 8%
Director Attendance record
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 1/1
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 171
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley 1”71

The main role and function of the nomination committee consist
of formulation and implementation of the nomination policy,
review of the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of
the Board, and making recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment
of directors and succession planning for directors in particular
the chairman and the chief executive. During the year, the
nomination committee has approved the terms of non-executive

director’s appointment.
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BOARD DIVERSITY
The company has adopted a board diversity policy which

consists of the following main aspects:

a. Board composition to be reviewed in terms of the size of
the Board, the number of non-executive directors and

executive directors in relation to the overall Board;

b.  Board effectiveness which requires members to have diverse
skills, knowledge and experiences that combine to provide

different perspectives and effective board dynamics; and

c.  Nominations and appointments to be carried out in view of
maintaining an appropriate mix of required skills,

experience, expertise and diversity on the Board.

The nomination committee is responsible to review the policy
on board diversity and any measurable objectives for its
implementation and to review the mechanism and the progress

towards achieving the objectives on annual basis.

The headcount by gender of the members of the senior

management at 31 March 2023 is set out below:

Number of person

Male 1

Female 1

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023 has
disclosed and explained information on the gender ratio in the

overall workforce of the group.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The company has a remuneration committee which was
established in compliance with the CG Code. The members of
the remuneration committee comprise two independent
non-executive directors of the company, Ms. Yu Yuk Ying,
Vivian (Chairperson) and Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney, and one

executive director, Mr. Chan Sze Chun.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, two remuneration
committee meetings were held. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
the meetings were held in the form of video conference. The

attendance of each committee member is set out as follows:

Director Attendance record
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 2/2
Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 2/2
Mr. Chan Sze Chun 2/2

The main role and function of the remuneration committee
consist of determining the remuneration packages and the terms
of employment of the directors and senior management. During
the year, the remuneration committee has approved the terms of

non-executive director’s appointments.

The emoluments of the executive directors are determined with
reference to the duties, responsibilities and experience of the
directors and prevailing market conditions. Besides the basic
salaries and benefits-in-kind as stipulated in the service
agreements, prior approval of the remuneration committee is
also required for performance related benefits of the executive

directors.
The emoluments of the non-executive directors are determined

based on the estimated time spent by them on the company’s

matters.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out below:

AE
HK$ Number of person
1,000,001 - 1,500,000 1
2,500,001 - 3,000,000 1

Further particulars regarding directors’ remuneration and
individuals with highest emoluments as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes

10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

AUDITORS” REMUNERATION
During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the group’s

independent auditor is analysed as follows:

BT
HK$
BT RIS Audit services 800,000
FETRE Non-audit services 160,000
960,000

EREES AUDIT COMMITTEE

RRARRBRETREI2NMRALBEREZES  EEEX
REZAEB o HBERABFBREURAREER N BEZS
B -BEREZEETHARANUBIFHTESAR 25
RAREELL(ER) REARERERR LT XHE
EEER-

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 7

The company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the group’s
financial reporting process and risk management and internal
control systems. The audit committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors of the company, Ms. Yu
Yuk Ying, Vivian (Chairperson), Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney and
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen, and reports to the Board.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, three audit committee
meetings were held. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the
meetings were held in the form of video conference. The

attendance of each committee member is set out as follows:

Director Attendance record
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 3/3
Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 3/3
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 3/3

During the year, the audit committee has reviewed with the
management the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the group, the interim and annual financial statements of the
group, met and discussed with the independent auditors, and
raised queries and obtained explanations from the management
on issues related to financial and operational control procedures

of the group.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges their responsibilities on the
maintenance of risk management and internal control systems
which are essential for effective and efficient operations of the
group and are fundamental in the thorough and regular
evaluation of the nature and extent of the risks to which the
group is exposed. These systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. Internal control is defined
as a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the achievement of objectives in relation to the following:

o Effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

e Reliability of financial reporting; and

e Compliance with applicable laws and regulations
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For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board, with the
assistance of the management, had conducted an annual review
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the group, focusing on three major business cycles of
the group, under COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission) framework. The Board had been
satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of these systems on
monitoring and evaluating the risks. Based on the results, the
directors were dedicated to implement various initiatives to
further enhance the existing risk management and internal
control systems alongside with the ongoing business

development of the group.

During the year, the group has maintained an internal audit
function with internal resources and engaged external
consultants to assist the management in order to identify,

evaluate and manage significant risks of the group.

During the year, the internal audit function had reviewed the
continuing connected transactions (details of which had been
disclosed in the company’s announcements of 23 August 2022
and 22 September 2022), and had included the relevant findings
and recommendations in its annual review report and submitted

to the Board.

The group has established whistleblowing policies and systems
with designated committee (audit committee) for employees,
customers and suppliers to raise concerns in confidence and
anonymity. The group has also established policies and systems
promoting anti-corruption laws and regulations, as well as

provision of relevant training to its workforce.
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The group complies with the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information published by the Securities and Futures Commission
in view of fulfilling its obligations to disclose inside information

under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

DIRECTORS” RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARING ACCOUNTS
The company’s directors acknowledge that they are responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements

which give a true and fair view.

STATEMENT BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The statement of the independent auditor of the company
regarding their responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the independent auditor’s report

on pages 49 to 59.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopts a dividend policy under which when
considering declaration of dividends, the company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves in order to meet its working
capital and future growth requirements, and shall preserve its
shareholders’ value by allowing shareholders to participate in

the company’s profit distribution.

The Board shall declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the company in compliance with the articles of
association of the company and all applicable regulatory

framework.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the company plays an important role
in supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow
within the Board, facilitating induction and professional
development of the Board members and advising on governance.
The company secretary of the company is Ms. Pang Lin, who is
a full-time employee of the group and reports to the Board. All
directors of the company have access to the advice and services
of the company secretary to ensure that Board policies and
procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations, are

followed.
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Ms. Pang was appointed as the company secretary of the
company in accordance with Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Her
academic and professional qualifications and relevant
experience are disclosed in the directors and senior management

profiles.

Ms. Pang has provided to the company the proof that she has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and has taken no
less than fifteen hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

According to article 58 of the company’s articles of association,
any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist himself may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist by the company.

If a member of the public or a shareholder wishes to put forward
enquiries to the Board and/or put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings, he/she must deposit a written notice (the
“Notice”) to the principal place of business of the company in
Hong Kong at Units 1-5, 11th Floor, Kodak House 2, 39 Healthy
Street East, North Point, Hong Kong, or the branch share
registrar of the company, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong

Kong for the attention of the company secretary of the company.
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In order for a proposal to be considered in general meetings, the
period for lodgement of the Notice will commence no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice by the company of
the general meeting to be convened and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the Notice is
received less than 15 days prior to the general meeting, the
company will need to consider the adjournment of the general
meeting in order to give shareholders 14 days’ notice of the

proposal.

The Notice will be verified with the company’s branch share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the company secretary of the company will ask the
relevant committee of the company and the Board to consider to
include the resolution in the agenda for the general meeting to

be convened.
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The directors of Moiselle International Holdings Limited (“the
company”) presented its annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the company and its

subsidiaries (the “group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The company is a company incorporated and domiciled in the
Cayman Islands and has its registered office and principal place
of business at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and Units 1-5, 11/F,
Kodak House 2, 39 Healthy Street East, North Point, Hong Kong

respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the group are the design, manufacture,
retail and wholesale of fashion apparel and accessories. The
principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are

set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

The analysis of geographical location of the operations of the
group during the financial year is set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the businesses of the group during the year, a
discussion on the group’s future business development and an
analysis of the group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 11 and the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 12 to 19 of this annual report.
A review of the environmental, social and governance
performance of the group is provided in the Environmental,

Social and Governance Report 2023.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

For principal risks and uncertainties, the directors are aware that
the group is exposed to risks and uncertainties, including those
specific to the group and those having generic impacts. The
management closely monitors the business environment in
which the group operates in order to have opportunities and
threats the group faces identified, reported, monitored and
managed on a continuous basis. Related discussion on certain
risks and uncertainties is provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 4 to 11 and the Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 12 to 19 of this annual report and notes 28 and 29 to
the consolidated financial statements. Concerning the risks
related to environmental, social and governance aspects of the
group’s businesses, related discussion is provided in the

Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the percentage of the
five largest customers combined were less than 30% of the

group’s total revenue.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the group’s purchases attributable

to the major suppliers respectively during the financial year is as

follows:
rRERBESHEIL
Percentage of the group’s
purchases total
The largest supplier 18%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 48%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the company (which to the best knowledge of
the directors owns more than 5% of the company’s share

capital) had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

Moiselle International Holdings Limited. % i B B % Ml f B 2 v

39



40

0 B

Directors’ Report

EFEHE
AEBRBLIAEMBRFEESEc£EREEREBHME
EEHNE179R180E o

B’ E
EEGUWERBEE_S-__FhA=1THLEARBEAERE
MPHERE(ZE-—F ' 8) ESUERBE-_ZT-=
F=ZRA=1t—-BLEEERIMNAHRE (ZE==

;) o

BERBRX
REBRAEEZEZZR/ABI10,0008 T (ZEZF
10,0005 78) °

SN
ARBZBAFBCEHRRESUBHRRME23 - A2FR
AREANLEETEE -

BRETE
AEERBEECGRFHMELABESTEGRIAZTEEBUER
HRODEETEFZEEETRHFMEAESTE(BES
FTED - BESHED —EABIYSTATEZREMRRK
RRGHE - RIBEBRESE EEREEEHESAME
EFBWRAZ%RTEMELHR  MEBAEBEKRAZ LR
#30,00058 7T ©

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 7

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
group for each of the last five financial years is set out on pages
179 and 180.

DIVIDEND

The board did not declare the payment of an interim dividend
for the six months ended 30 September 2022 (2021: Nil). The
directors do not declare the payment of a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the group during the year
amounted to HK$10,000 (2022: HK$10,000).

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the company’s share capital are set out in note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements. There were no movements

during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME (continued)

As stipulated by the regulations of the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”), the group participates in defined contribution
retirement plans organised by the relevant authorities for its
Mainland China employees. The group is required to make
contributions to the retirement plans which are calculated based
on certain prescribed rates on the salaries, bonuses and certain
allowances of its Mainland China employees. The group has no
other material obligation for the payment of pension benefits
associated with such plans beyond the annual contributions

described above.

Employees of the subsidiary carrying on business in Taiwan
chose to participate in a defined contribution scheme governed
by the Labour Pension Act of Taiwan. This subsidiary contributes
at 6% of the total salaries of participating employees who have
chosen to participate in the defined contribution scheme,
deposited into individual pension accounts at the Bureau of

Labour Insurance of Taiwan.

Employees of the subsidiary in Singapore participate in the
Central Provident Fund scheme (the “CPF”) organised by the
government of Singapore. This subsidiary and its employees are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the employees’
payroll to the CPF. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
CPF. The subsidiary has no further obligations for the actual
pension payments or post-retirement benefits beyond its

contributions.

Contributions to the defined contribution scheme are charged to

profit or loss when incurred.
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DIRECTORS
The directors during the financial year and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Chan Yum Kit

Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley
Mr. Chan Sze Chun

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian

Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney

Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen

Dr. Ng Lai Man, Carmen

Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley, Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney and
Dr. Ng Lai Man, Carmen will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting in accordance with article 87 of the company’s
articles of association and, being eligible, offer themselves for

re-election.

DIRECTORS” SERVICE CONTRACTS
The independent non-executive directors were appointed for a
term of two years and are subject to retirement by rotation in

accordance with the articles of association of the company.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than normal

statutory obligations.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
directors and the chief executive of the company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the
register kept by the company under section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)

were as follows:

RO ZERER ERBNE I
Beneficial Approximate BEmE
EspnR interest percentage Nature of
Name of director in shares of interests interest
PRI K& 193,918,000 67.35% NG
Mr. Chan Yum Kit Corporate/Family
2,100,000 0.73% Edi
Family
2,100,000 0.73% [EPN
Personal
(H1EE(1)R(2)
(Notes (1) and (2))
®RIELL 193,918,000 67.35% NG
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley Corporate/Family
2,100,000 0.73% ENi
Family
2,100,000 0.73% 8 A
Personal
(BfEt(1)K(2))
(Notes (1) and (2))
REB®ZEE 900,000 0.31% @A
Mr. Chan Sze Chun Personal
BERRLZ L 28,000 0.01% {EPN
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen Personal
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (continued)

Notes:

(1) 190,000,000 of these shares are held by Super Result Consultants
Limited (“Super Result”). The share capital of Super Result is
beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Yum Kit (“Mr. Chan”) and
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley (“Ms. Tsui”) as to 46.7% and 46.7%
respectively. Each of Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui will therefore be
deemed interested in the 190,000,000 shares held by Super Result
as corporate interest.

3,918,000 of these shares are held by New First Investments
Limited (“New First”). The share capital of New First is beneficially
owned by Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui as to 50% and 50% respectively.
Each of Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui will therefore be deemed interested
in the 3,918,000 shares held by New First as corporate interest.

(2)  Since Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui are married to each other, Mr. Chan
will be deemed interested in the shares which Ms. Tsui is deemed
interested in as family interest, and vice versa.

In addition to the above, one director has non-beneficial
personal equity interests in certain subsidiaries held for the
benefit of the group. Certain director also has beneficial interest
in non-voting deferred shares practically carrying no rights to
dividends or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any
general meeting or to participate in any distribution or winding

up in a subsidiary.

Apart from the foregoing, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
directors or the chief executive of the company or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the company or any
of its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO, as recorded in the register kept by the company under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the company

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (continued)

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year ended 31
March 2023 was the company, or any of its holding company,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors or the chief executive of the company or
any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or

debentures of the company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, the interests or short positions of the
following shareholder, other than the directors and the chief
executive of the company, in the shares or underlying shares of
the company which have been disclosed to the company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO have been recorded in the
register kept by the company under section 336 of the SFO:

BRAEEEH

ERTROZBNEIL

HRROGEAH Approximate percentage
Aggregate long of aggregate interests to

position in shares total issued shares

Super Result

BtEE - Super Resultz RATDHREERBKZ T DIEHES
46.7%K46.7% °

BREMER EX[EEREBTRAERE S 2BE |-
FBARAEERETEZTHAE ZEEN  BEAQFR
BEZRPERAEBMZAEFE 2 LMATRRE -
RZBZZF=ZA=+—0 UEEMALRERXITRE
AR TFEAEEIAR -
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190,000,000 65.99% (#1&E) (Note)

Note: The share capital of Super Result is beneficially owned by
Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui as to 46.7% and 46.7% respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, and other than the directors and the
chief executive of the company whose interests are set out in the
section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests in securities”
above, no person was recorded in the register kept by the
company under section 336 of the SFO as having an interest or a
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the company
as at 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party, in which a director of the
company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year

or at any time during the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain material related party transactions as set out in note
31(a) to the consolidated financial statements fall under the
definition of continuing connected transactions in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. During the year, the independent
non-executive directors had reviewed and confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions were entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the group, on normal
commercial terms and according to the agreement governing
them on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders as a whole. The auditors of the company had
provided the letter to the company in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The company had submitted the
letter to the Stock Exchange.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

On 28 May 2020, the Group, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, entered into a facility letter with an existing bank for
a revised banking facility up to an aggregate amount of
HK$65,000,000. In June 2022, the facility amount was further
revised to HK$55,000,000. Pursuant to the terms of the facility
letter, the Group undertakes with the bank that the directors,
Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui, shall remain to be the directors and the

largest shareholder of the Company.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the company’s
articles of association or the law in the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the company to offer new shares on a pro rata

basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the company’s
listed securities by the company or any of its subsidiaries during

the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the company has maintained the
prescribed public float required under the Listing Rules, based
on the information that is publicly available to the company and

within the knowledge of the directors of the company.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the
directors of the company is currently in force and was in force

throughout the year.

AUDITORS

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution of the
re-appointment of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditors of
the company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO APPENDIX 16 PARAGRAPH
30 OF THE LISTING RULES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu resigned as auditors of the company and
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited was appointed as auditors of

the company to fill the casual vacancy.

By Order of the Board

Chan Yum Kit

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Moiselle International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 60 to 176, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment

We identified the impairment of right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment in the Group’s retail
operations as a key audit matter due to inherent uncertainty
pertaining to the assumptions required in determining the
future discounted cash flow forecasts of each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) being the individual retail
stores and involvement of significant degree of management
judgement and estimation in determining the amount of

provision.

Management judgement is required to identify those CGUs
requiring provision for or reversal of impairment in the
current year, while estimation is required to assess the

recoverable amounts of each CGU.

Impairment losses on relevant right-of-use assets of and
property, plant and equipment of HK$2,906,000 and
HK$372,000, respectively, were recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2023. As at 31 March 2023, the carrying
amounts of the relevant right-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment were HK$15,108,000 and HK$332,343,000,
respectively.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment in the Group's retail

operations included:

e Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s control and
assessment process in identifying the indicators of
potential impairment and estimating the recoverable
amount of each CGU by considering the level of
inherent risk of estimation uncertainty and susceptibility

to management bias;

e Evaluating the appropriateness in management’s
identification of CGUs, the allocation of assets to each
CGU identified and the impairment assessment
methodology adopted by management;

e Comparing the most significant inputs used in the
preparation of the discounted cash flow forecasts,
including future revenue and related future expenses,
with the historical performance of these retail stores and
the budgets and forecasts approved by directors of the
Company, taking into account recent developments in
the retail sector and the future operating plans for the
Group;

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the discount rates

applied in the cash flow forecasts;

e Evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by the
management on the key inputs used to evaluate the

extent of impact on the estimated future cash flows; and

e Testing the mathematical accuracy of provision for

impairment made by management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties and land and buildings held for own use

We identified the valuation of investment properties and land
and buildings held for own use as a key audit matter because
the valuations of these properties require the exercise of

significant judgement and estimation.

The fair values of the investment properties and land and
buildings held for own use were assessed by the directors
based on valuations prepared by an independent firm of
qualified professional property valuers. The key estimates and
assumptions adopted in the valuation by the external property
valuer included unobservable inputs used such as
capitalisation rate and the selection of comparable market

transactions.

The Group’s investment properties and land and buildings
held for own use were valued at HK$226,190,000 and
HK$329,792,000 as at 31 March 2023, respectively.

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment

properties and land and buildings held for own use included:

e Obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared
by the external property valuer engaged by the Group
and on which the directors” assessment of the fair values
of investment properties and land and buildings held for

own use was based;

e Assessing the external property valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise in the properties being valued

and considering their objectivity;

e Discussing with the external property valuer, to
understand the valuation methodology applied and the
key estimates and assumptions adopted in their
valuations and assess their reasonableness and the

consistency with industry norms; and

e  Comparing the significant unobservable inputs and
comparable market transactions adopted by the external
property valuer with available market data, on a sample

basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing

the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group

to cease to continue as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Chan Kwan Ho, Edmond.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023

Chan Kwan Ho, Edmond

Practising certificate number P02092
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HE-_T-=F=HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

—EBC-=F —===
2023 2022
oY = THET THER
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
W Revenue 5 127,946 138,526
$HE AR Cost of sales (34,666) (41,920)
EF Gross profit 93,280 96,606
Hbug A Other income 6 12,445 17,665
HEREkEE Other gains and losses 2,076 8,505
DHREHERE Distribution and selling expenses (80,623) (109,837)
THREMEERX Administrative and other operating expenses (52,158) (57,408)
KREEHR Loss from operations (24,980) (44,469)
REMERIAAREEZE 2 (Loss) gain on changes in fair value of
(B]) W investment properties 14 (21,768) 5,984
Rl & B A Finance costs (2,117) (2,510)
BRELAIE 1B Loss before taxation (48,865) (40,995)
FreHik® Income tax credit 8 5,964 48
FABE Loss for the year 9 (42,901) (40,947)
Htt2E (BX) = Other comprehensive (expense) income
BTrEEH 7 EZEmZEH - ltem that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
BEERLHREEY2EMR (Loss) gain on revaluation of land and
(E518) Wz - IR SR buildings held for own use, net of related
income tax (1,362) 16,848
RABAEET 7 EZ R0 2 Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
EH : profit or loss:
BEBIEB ELREZE Exchange differences arising on translation
RETERT of foreign operations, with nil tax impact (9,234) 6,957
(10,596) 23,805
AEEZHAZAE Total comprehensive expense for the year (53,497) (17,142)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

—EBC-=F —E=-=
2023 2022
oY = THET THER
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
THALTEERFEERR : Loss for the year attributable to:
VIN/NCTES SN Owners of the Company (42,857) (40,718)
R R = Non-controlling interests (44) (229)
(42,901) (40,947)
THALTEEZHEB A : Total comprehensive expense attributable to:
ZNCIESS SN Owners of the Company (53,453) (16,913)
JEfE R = Non-controlling interests (44) (229)
(53,497) (17,142)
BT BT
HK$ HK$
BRER Loss per share
BN Basic 13 (0.15) (0.14)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZE-_=F=F=+—H At 31 March 2023

—E_=F —E -
2023 2022
i THERT TR
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current assets
REME Investment properties 14 226,190 250,916
ME BMERERE Property, plant and equipment 14 332,343 351,249
ERAEEE Right-of-use assets 15 15,108 32,134
EffEE Deposits paid 16 3,230 6,991
EEREBHERE Deferred tax assets 22 312 243
577,183 641,533
REBEE Current assets
7E Inventories 17 22,340 30,617
JFEE L2 Bl 0 T2 Lt B LUK Trade and other receivables 18 30,726 28,239
RITEBRES Bank balances and cash 13,775 14,424
66,841 73,280
REBEE Current liabilities
FE A BR R e EL At & (S 3K Trade and other payables 19 24,299 30,041
HEEE Lease liabilities 20 23,754 38,520
EAHE Tax payable 147 140
BE Borrowings 21 37,300 12,917
85,500 81,618
REBEEFE Net current liabilities (18,659) (8,338)
EEAERREBARS Total assets less current liabilities 558,524 633,195
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
M-ZZTEE-=%F=A=+—H At 31 March 2023

—E-=F —E-C
2023 2022
ot = THET THER
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 20 4,637 17,839
REFEHEE Deferred tax liabilities 22 92,571 100,543
97,208 118,382
BEERE Net assets 461,316 514,813
EXRR & Capital and reserves
[ Share capital 23 2,880 2,880
ERi] Reserves 459,683 513,136
ERRBERABGRRER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 462,563 516,016
FE AR RE Non-controlling interests (1,247) (1,203)
HIRRER Total equity 461,316 514,813

FOR176E 2R EMBRRENRZZE_=ZFERA=TH
AEBEESRENHIEL  THTIHESAREE

Chan Yum Kit
Director

=
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The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 176 were

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

29 June 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Tsui How Kiu, Shirley

®RI515
Director

=
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R R
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE-ZT-=F=HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023
AAAREARG
Attributable to owners of the Company
FERBOR  NEERRR FEREs
i BftEE Bk EXRE Statutory Property 2ithE N fRFER
Share Share Other Exchange reserve revaluation  Accumulated it controlling Total
aapital premium reserve reserve funds reserve losses Total interests Equity
TR Thn TEn Thn ThL Thn TER ThL T TAn
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS/000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK$/000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000
(ki) (i)
(note i) [note i
H-8=-EmA-R At1 April 2021 2,880 05,327 11 0978 9,336 470,284 (37.997) 532,929 (974) 531,955
EREE Loss for the year = o = o = - [40,718) (40,718) (229) (40947)
FERALRERZ Gain on revaluation offand and bulldings hld
i for own use - - - - - 10,38 - 10,138 - 10,138
EffkkaR1NR Income ax rlating to revaluation of land and
BEN2 G buildings held for own use - - - - - (2,534) - (2534 - (2,534)
LELBREREEER Reversal of income tax reating o revaluation of and
1HREF LR and buildings held for own use upon disposal = = = = = 9,244 = 9,044 = 9,244
BESNRHAELL Exchange diferences arising from tranlation of
EJZR foreign operations - - - 6,957 - - - 6,957 - 6,957
ERZE(RR)NEER Total comprehensive expense) income
for the year - - - 6,957 - 16,848 (40,718) (16913) (229) (17,142)
HEANFERRRERZRTER Transfer of property revaluation surplus to
accumulated losses upon disposel - - - - - (49478) 19478 - - -
RZRZZEZA=1-RR
“E-ERA-A At31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 2,880 05,327 m 29,935 9,336 437,654 (29,237) 516,016 (1,203) 514,813
ERER Loss for the year = = . = . = (42,857) (42,857) ) (#2,901)
BEERIMREENL Loss on revaluation of [and and buildings held for
EfifE oWn se = = = - = (1,781) = (1,781) 5 (1,781)
EffERIER Income tax relting o revaluation of land and
BENZAER buildings held for own use a = 419 - 419 - 419
BERARRAEL, Exchange diferences arisng from tranlation of
ERZE foreign operations = = (9,234) = = (9,234) - (9,234)
ERRERAE Total comprehensive expense for the year - - (9,234) - (1,362 (42,857) (53,453) (44) (53,497)
HZ%2Z§Zf=1-8 At31 March 2023 2,880 05,327 m 20,701 9,336 436,292 (72,094) 462,563 (1,47) 461,316
BiEE - Notes:
(i) HtpgElER -2 —F—-A-t+HERERZAEFE (i) Other reserve represents the difference between the nominal value

(ii)

AMBEZHELARD 2 RAEEERLERREZARR
RAEBTRACEHBEZEZRE

RENEBECEBRACPEAREME THED *®
B ARAQFAZHEARMHE AR ERLIMELERSKRD
B PR AHEESRBISEREANES - BERY
ZRHREESZVEZFERB BN RPESERTE)
ZI0%ERIREESRN BEEZES2EBEZTHT
MERZ50%EIL - WEESTRERESERERS
HREAAZ FERABKBARZCESSEANERE
BEREEANERAIBMIEHERINES R_ZZTREF
TAZT+tREIENE H-ZEZERF—HF—HE-
EHERIBAAEET BT EORIEAREF
HEeEHEE-

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 7

(if)

of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange thereof
pursuant to a group reorganisation which became effective on 25
January 2002.

According to the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) laws
applicable to wholly-owned foreign investment enterprises,
Mainland China subsidiaries of the Company are required to set up
two statutory reserve funds, general reserve fund and staff general
fund. General reserve fund was set up by appropriating at least
10% of their annual profit after taxation, as determined under PRC
regulations, until the balance of the fund reaches 50% of their
registered capital. This fund can be used to make good losses or to
convert into paid-in capital. Transfer from retained profits to staff
general fund was made at the discretion of the board of directors of
Mainland China subsidiaries. Starting from 1 January 2006, the
transfer is no longer a statutory obligation upon the revision of the
law on 27 October 2005 and no transfer to staff general fund has
been made since then.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

—E-=fF -
2023 2022
THET THER
HK$’000 HK$'000
REEH Operating activities
R F A e 18 Loss before tax (48,865) (40,995)
RTHIE LR : Adjustments for:
7l & A AR Finance costs 2,117 2,510
FE A Interest income (17) (20)
REVMERNREREZ Loss (gain) on changes in fair value of investment
B (=) properties 21,768 (5,984)
NE BMERREZTE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13,462 13,670
FRESEZINE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 21,542 33,990
M- -BERRXBZAEESR Impairment losses on property, plant and
R equipment, net 372 1,439
EREEEZRERBEEHE Impairment losses on right-of-use assets, net 2,906 6,511
2019 BRFSHFHEBHERESER Covid-19 related rent concessions (3,403) (10,082)
REALIEEEN Z W& Gain on early termination of lease contracts (300) (9,220)
HEWHE  BERRE WG Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (170) (171)
R EEESEBA 2 Operating cash flows before movements in
REDERE working capital 9,412 (8,352)
FEERD Decrease in inventories 7,032 9,563
FE U BR SR e H i BE WX (Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables
Z (&) w4 (4,674) 2,639
FE 43 BR TR I EL A BE A3 50 2 Rl 2> Decrease in trade and other payables (5,314) (2,017)
REEBEMBRE Cash from operations 6,456 1,833
ENEBEINTER Income tax outside Hong Kong paid (272) (235)
REFHFAEREFR Net cash from operating activities 6,184 1,598
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HE-_T-=F=HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

—E-=fF —E-C
2023 2022
TERT THET
HK$’000 HK$'000
REED Investing activities
REHESRS Refund of rental deposit 5,678 3,268
HEREWHEZMERIE Proceeds on disposal of investment properties = 54,720
HENE BMERREZFMBFIE Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 170 29,758
[E11 &=\ Interest received 17 20
BAME  BERRZE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,931) (2,721)
X HEEEE Payment of rental deposits (823) (2,762)
REZBFBEREFH Net cash from investing activities 3,111 82,283
BMEEH Financing activities
EERTEE Repayment of bank borrowings (35,894) (134,582)
EBEHESRE Repayment of lease liabilities (30,894) (45,097)
ENRE Interest paid (2,117) (2,510)
HEEZFRBRE Proceeds from new borrowings 60,277 93,956
METEMARSTE Net cash used in financing activities (8,628) (88,233)
RERRESESEWEMCORD) Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
8 667 (4,352)
RENZRERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 14,424 17,567
Exgs o8 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (1,316) 1,209
RERZRERAESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year,
RERBITERRERS represented by bank balances and cash 13,775 14,424

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

—RER 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

SHEBREEAERAR (A7) REME AR Moiselle International Holdings Limited (the “Company”;
BIAER]) D" ZRRBREMEFE QA AEENE and its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the “Group”)
(1961 FE =AM - RFERIERT) RS SR is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
MIEREERAR ERONEBHEXZME Islands with limited liability under the Companies Law,
PRAFEMR EH o HEAZER A T ASuper Result Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
Consultants Limited ([ Super Result]) » ZARHB—K the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main
REBERLZBEEEMAL 2BERAA - ZDAEFER Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Its
HITESHRRANLE ([RELE]) RAAAHTESR ultimate holding company is Super Result Consultants
sz £ (MR £ 1) & BMSuper ResulthsH46.7%MKR Limited (“Super Result”), a limited company incorporated in
o ARDNAZEMPREERTE L E I 2l E R the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Chan Yum Kit (“Mr. Chan”),
RABZFRPDBER —HHHE - the chairman and executive director of the Company, and

Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley (“Ms. Tsui”), executive director
of the Company, each holds 46.7% equity interest in Super
Result. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the

section of Corporate Information in the Company’s annual

report.
ARAR—FZBREZRLQA - AREIMBARZEE The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
EBRRET  HERTERE R RAE - BRAALD principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
REEME DR ZFBEHNMHESS ° design, manufacture and retail of fashion apparel and

accessories. Details of the principal subsidiaries of the

Company are set out in note 33.

41

i)
&

GAMBREDLETES] - FREATZY

1\
#
o

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional

currency of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E-T-_=F=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

ERAFTERMBRELEN (FEMBHREE
Rl ) RABET &
RAEFERBER BB BHE LR ZETAR

RAFE  AEERERESMBHRRE - BAEA
THERERSTMLAS ((FEBEHMAE ) BAELR
CECCHFNA-HIAZERB 2 FERBEEEN
ZEBUBRELEL ZIEFTA

BEMBREEAEIR BT BoERZRR

BREHEAE IR ZBTR N BERR
B-REREHZ
Fri& =R

BRAN-BETEN
LA

“E-N\FEZEC
REERYBRS
EAFERE

BBEEAETRBIA

BEMBREEYN2BITX

AEERRAETBMBREEN ZEBTAHAREERAE
FERBEFEZHBRRARRRER RZEHREH
BHRETHECKBALBREALE -

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Z-ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts'
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendment to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated

financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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=F=A=1+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)”

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification

of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non- current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period.

Specifically, the amendments to clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle

the liabilities within 12 months;

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a later date;

and

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32

“Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the

corresponding workings with no change in conclusion.
Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 March

2023, the application of the amendments will not result in

reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is
material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make

on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy

information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how
an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to
accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to

the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application,
if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated

financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting
Estimates”

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may
require items in financial statements to be measured in a
way that involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the
accounting policy may require such items to be measured
at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly and
must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting
estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions

based on the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates

in HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” so
that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3, for leasing transactions in which the
tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the
Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets
and liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to

relevant assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”
(continued)

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will
recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with the right-of-use assets

and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early
application permitted. As at 31 March 2023, the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are
subject to the amendments amounted to HK$2,172,000 (net
of impairment of HK$2,106,000) and HK$8,719,000,
respectively. The Group is still in the process of assessing

the full impact of the application of the amendments.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$18,659,000 as at 31
March 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
generated operating cash flows of approximately
HK$6,184,000. As at 31 March 2023, total cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$13,775,000
were held by the Group and unutilised bank facilities
amounted to approximately HK$31,357,000 were
available. On 15 May 2023, the Group entered into a
sales and purchase agreement with an independent
third party for disposal of a property situated in the
PRC (under land and buildings held for own use)
through disposal of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group at a consideration of RMB20,000,000 (see note
35). There would be net cash inflow of approximately
HK$22,000,000 upon the completion of said

transaction.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

Based on the aforesaid factors and cash flow forecast
for the coming twelve months, the Directors have, at
the time of approving the consolidated financial
statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial

statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
investment properties and land and buildings held for
own use, which are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the

accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and

services.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value

in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and

best use.

For investment properties and land and buildings held
for own use which are transacted at fair value and a
valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that the results of

the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement

date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the

asset or liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights

(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable

assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the owners

of the Company.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are

made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less

impairment losses.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These
include land held for a currently undetermined future

use.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any indirectly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income. Gains or losses arising from a change in fair
value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or loss for

the period in which they arise.

When the Group holds a property interest under an
operating lease to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, the interest is classified and
accounted for as an investment property on a

property-by-property basis.
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3. BAEVBBRRZEHNEERTESHEE (A)

3.2 FEEFHE (B)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Property, plant and equipment

The land held for own use and buildings thereon are
stated at their revalued amount, being their fair value
at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent

accumulated depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity
to ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does
not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair values at the end of the

reporting period.

Other items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses.

Changes arising on the revaluation of properties held
for own use are generally dealt with in other
comprehensive income and are accumulated
separately in equity in the property revaluation

reserve. The only exceptions are as follows:

. when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the amount held in the reserve in respect
of that same asset immediately prior to the

revaluation; and

e when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to profit or loss to the extent that a
deficit on revaluation in respect of that same
asset had previously been charged to profit or

loss.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)
If a property becomes an investment property because
its use has changed as evidenced by end of
owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the
date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the
property, the relevant revaluation reserve will be

transferred directly to accumulated losses.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred
from the property revaluation reserve to accumulated

losses and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight line method over their estimated useful lives

as follows:

Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired terms of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being 50 years from the

date of completion.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Leasehold improvements ~ Over the shorter of 5
years and the period of
the lease

Plant and machinery 10 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 to 10 years

Computer and office 3 to 5 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its

residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at

initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is
presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position except for those that
are classified and accounted for as investment
properties under the fair value model. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are

classified as property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the

contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease

components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted for by applying other

applicable standards.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of carpark spaces and certain
retail stores that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line

basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the

lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition

required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities
other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting
from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the

Group applied practical expedient.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. BAEVBBRRZEHNEERTESHEE (A) 3.

3.2 FEEFHE (B)

HE (&) Leases (continued)
AEEEDBAMA () The Group as a lessee (continued)
EREEE (&) Right-of-use assets (continued)
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Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and

the lease term.
The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial

position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and initially

measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at

WEt AERBEE 2K - initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

HEEE Lease liabilities

REERK Y ARERZARTHEELRK
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At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an

option to terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are not included in the measurement of
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are
recognised as expense in the period in which the

event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are

adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option,
in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date

of reassessment.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

e the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease

payments using the initial discount rate.
The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial

position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more

underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect

the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the

modification.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the

relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate

stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease

payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, the Group applies the practical expedient to
remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting the
revised lease payments using the unchanged discount
rate and makes a corresponding adjustment to the
related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and

only if, both of these conditions are met:

e The modification is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark reform;

and

e The new basis for determining the lease payments
is economically equivalent to the previous basis
(i.e. the basis immediately preceding the

modification).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient not
to assess whether the change is a lease modification if

all of the following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for

the lease immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and

conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a
lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to
reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in profit or loss

in the period in which the event occurs.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All

other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value

model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers” to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated
from lease component on the basis of their relative

stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are

considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to

which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group

of cash-generating units.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future

cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the

consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of

cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other

purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and

cash equivalents as defined above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale. Cost necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must

incur to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The
amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention

in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as

appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.
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3. BAEVBBRRZEHNEERTESHEE (A)

3.2 FEEFHE (B)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash

flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no

longer credit-impaired.
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3.

(Z-ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including deposits paid, trade and other receivables
and bank balances) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in

credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future

conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed

individually.

For all other financial assets, ECL is measured at 12m
ECL unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a

default occurring since initial recognition.
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3. BAEVBBRRZEHNEERTESHEE (A)

3.2 FEEFHE (B)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that

is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk

has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit

rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit

default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its

debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BANBRESFHEERITENKE (&) 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 FESFBEK (#) 3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
TETA(E) Financial instruments (continued)
THEE (&) Financial assets (continued)
SR E E K RE () Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(i) FERBRBEZFEMGE) (i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
e EBRAREXENBERIEHERE e an actual or expected significant
KRB R deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and
e BEAEE KEIRMBRENER e an actual or expected significant adverse
REPEATFNEHMEREBEAE change in the regulatory, economic, or
THEBRSENREDRIE TR - technological environments of the debtor

that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Ewm LM AERNET  AEBBRRMS Irrespective of the outcome of the above
HERBHBBEOR  BlEERR B DR assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
BRURE KIEEM  EAEEEESE risk has increased significantly since initial
EEENERBERBERILIEML - BIE R recognition when contractual payments are more
o than 30 days past due, unless the Group has

reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

AEEEHEZAUBAEERBES K The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
TR IMARE 2 M - BERTERE (NEE) the criteria used to identify whether there has
RIEREERE S BB A H A EER R been a significant increase in credit risk and
PR revises them as appropriate to ensure that the

criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes

past due.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any

collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion

is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

the borrower;

e 2 breach of contract, such as a default or

past due event;
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HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BANBRESFHEERITENKE (&) 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2 FEEFHE (B)

TETA(E) Financial instruments (continued)
THIEE (&) Financial assets (continued)
SR E E K RE () Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(il EEREELREE (#) (iii) Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)
. ERANERAREBERATBE o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic

M B R S A3 a8 AL E
ERATESTERENRESR ) R

or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

or

e BRABTHEEBEREIEGUBEE e it is becoming probable that the borrower
e will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
(iv) HsE R (iv) Write-off policy

ERBETHNTERBEMRRESR KD
ARER (BIMNH SRR EENRERF
B UREERE) AEEAUMHEERME
E-REFZRZRZ (HAE) » WMH
NEMEETRNARFIEEREREFE
TREIBATIEER) - MIHBHEUHERSIE -
EMERKEEE D PR -
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The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries

are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default

occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate

determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised

cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a

loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables and borrowings) are subsequently measured

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire. On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when and
only when the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised

in profit or loss.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are

substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria

is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s

performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group

performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good

or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants

will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such

grants are presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these

amounts are stated at their present values.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax
Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect

of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from

unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that
will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss (from which the deferred tax asset
arises) can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which

the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)
The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is

probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
above, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

not discounted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the
right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease

liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed
on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use
assets over the lease payments for the principal
portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible

temporary differences.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that

sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the individual
entity or the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities

and the following additional conditions are met:

o in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
individual entity or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously; or

o in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

e the same taxable entity; or

o different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend
to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or

realise and settle simultaneously.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Provisions (continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time

value of money is material).

Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was

measured.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)
The results of operations outside Hong Kong are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rate for the period unless exchange rate
fluctuate significantly during the period in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Statement of financial position items are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in

equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of an operation outside Hong Kong, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that operation outside Hong Kong is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the

profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or

sale.
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EARERE S FHEER TBQHKE (F) 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 FESFBER(#) 3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Borrowing costs (continued)

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.
Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
(@) has control or joint control over the Group;
(b) has significant influence over the Group; or
(c) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group's

parent.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(i)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(a)

Annual Report 2023 44 #t

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which

the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the

Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity

(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Group’s parent.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Related parties (continued)
Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s senior executive management
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various

geographical locations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that certain of the
Group's investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s
deferred taxation on investment properties, the Directors
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties in Mainland China
measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale is rebutted. For certain investment properties
in Hong Kong on which the “sale” presumption is not
rebutted, the Group has not recognised any deferred tax on
changes in fair value of investment properties in Hong
Kong above the qualified cost as the Group is not subject to
any income taxes on the fair value changes of the
investment properties in Hong Kong above the qualified

cost on disposal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment

The Group assesses regularly whether right-of-use assets
and property, plant and equipment have any indication of
impairment. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units to which these assets
belong would be determined by reference to the higher of
their value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. Value
in use is determined using the discounted cash flow
method. Due to inherent risk associated with estimations in
the timing and magnitude of the future cash flows
calculated with certain growth rate as key input and fair
value less costs of disposal, the estimated recoverable
amount of the assets may be different from their actual
recoverable amount and profit or loss could be affected by
the accuracy of the estimations. Furthermore, the cash
flows projections, growth rate and discount rate are subject
to greater uncertainties in the current year due to
uncertainty on how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress
and evolve and volatility in financial markets, including

potential disruptions in the Group's retail operations.

Valuation of investment properties and land and buildings
held for own use

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
land and buildings held for own use are assessed by the
Directors based on valuations prepared by an independent
firm of qualified professional property valuers by making
reference to the capitalisation rate and comparable market
transactions. The valuation models used by the property
valuer make use of market inputs. Should changes be made
to the market inputs, the corresponding valuation of
investment properties and land and buildings held for own

use would change.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Valuation of inventories

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts
of inventories with reference to aged inventories analysis
and historical consumption trends. Based on this review,
write-down of inventories will be made when the estimated
net realisable value of inventories decline below their
carrying amounts. Due to changes in market trends, actual
consumption may be different from estimation and profit or

loss could be affected by accuracy of this estimation.

REVENUE

The Group generated sales of fashion apparel and
accessories with customers mainly through its own retail
stores. For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
revenue from sales of fashion apparel and accessories is
recognised at a point in time when the goods are delivered

to the customers.

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Revenue from sales of fashion apparel and accessories is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being
at the point where the customer purchases and takes the
goods at the retail stores directly or when the goods have
been transported to the customers’ specified location
(delivery). Transportation and other related activities that
incurred before customers obtain control of the related
products are considered as fulfilment activities. Payment of
the transaction price is generally due immediately at the
point the customer purchases the goods in the retail stores.
The transaction price received by the Group for goods that
require delivery is recognised as a contract liability until

the goods have been delivered to the customer.
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2= (42) 5. REVENUE (continued)
BEFEXZEAYEE () Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(continued)
EF L HETE Customer loyalty programme
AEBZBAEENERMEEEF-—BEPEHE The Group operates a customer loyalty programme for sales
T8 REEtéld  BEERBEMESRGTRBES through the Group’s retail stores where customers
WRARRERBED ZIRBEETH - B EREN accumulate award points for purchases made which entitle
HE-2HEBREEIBREZEEMRERBESD - ZE them to redeem award points as sales discounts in the
BOBFIE  BF W REEEH B H A2 5 future. The transaction price is allocated to the product and
ABREED  REEICRERZERBE I ERE the award points on a relative stand-alone selling price
AHEHSER - RBEI NEEARBBAATHER S basis. The award points expire every year and customers
BHEE (RIIRIEFERIET) o can redeem the award points any time before the specified

expiration date. Revenue from the award points is
recognised when the award points are used or expired.
Contract liabilities, presented under “accrued charges”, are

recognised until the award points are used or expired.

PEEZHEEFEHNZH TENEFZXEER Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers
HARBTERABEEZEFEHN (BEEF EHEE Contracts with customers with unsatisfied performance
ZRBED) 2REABREZHR —FHUT - BB B obligations, including award points under the customer
BRI EZERIZE 155 FERFNER - 2BMEZEE AR loyalty programme, have original expected durations of one
BIBANEEZRZERRTIRE - year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction

prices allocated to these unsatisfied performance

obligations are not disclosed.
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5. W (&
2EER
AEEZRWEVEERHER - AEOAEESHRT
BHEBAERTSZEHBUSBRERRAHRRZ2ER —
B AEECERTIMEETFE2HRDEL - WELE
SBEAERUTETE2H M -

e EREBERSBHEBZRMEREORME -

e ERBENEBRERTEAMEEARTAE UK
KB Rt B - BB RFTINFEEERRE
REORE -

RAGDHEREARDIEDRERME » ZEEZSR
THREBASDNZEUTEEERER AT 2R MELL
ZEE

BRAXDNSEZEIMAEE ZHERRAX
RAZErMELEEZTEMELEMOBREATZ

# 9 =
N

SAEATERIHEN BEARAZTEARLEER
F/EE(FERAMKA - EttREREBEUARE
FTIRREMELRR) - FAERIEIEREATE

] ED e
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REVENUE (continued)

Segment information

The Group manages its businesses by geographical
locations. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s senior
executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following two reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the

following reportable segments.

e The Hong Kong operation represents the sales of house

brands and imported brands in Hong Kong.

e The outside Hong Kong operation represents the
manufacture of house brands in Mainland China and
sales of house brands and imported brands in

Mainland China, Macau, Taiwan and Singapore.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results attributable to

each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets

attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reportable segment profit/loss is
profit/loss from operations with the exclusion of other
income, other gains and losses and certain administrative
and other operating expenses. Income tax is not allocated

to reportable segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

e 55 (&) 5. REVENUE (continued)

DEBE R (&) Segment information (continued)
AEBZzOHEEREBLENASEESRTHER Segment assets and liabilities of the Group are not reported
ABEH -BAlt GEUBBRRABEINETEHS to the Group’s senior executive management. As a result,
HEERER - reportable segment assets and liabilities have not been

presented in the consolidated financial statements.

ATFE2RHIPPB ST RREMAIMAANEE 2S5t The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
BURAAR e same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note
3.
0 ENE R ATEHR HAH
Hong Kong Outside Hong Kong  Total reportable segments
ZE-=f “E--F ZBC-ZF ZEC--F ZE-=F “E-CE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

TExr TEx  TEr  FTER  TEx  TER
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

HREF MR Revenue from external customers 70,846 58,552 57,100 79974 127,946 138,526
72 E R & Inter-segment revenue 10,636 18,006 19,968 17,931 30,604 35,937
sl Segment revenue 81,482 76,558 77,068 97,905 158,550 174,463
2EEF (B8) Segment profit (loss) 11,261 (2,823) (4,868)  (17,243) 6,393 (20,066)
REtEDMEERA Amount regularly provided to the Group’s

PEHaAKER senior executive management included in

THEBABREZ the measurement of segment results:

S8
NE BERRBITE Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 114 520 795 1,097 909 1,617

FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14,476 17,949 7,037 14,963 21,513 32,912
N% - BERREZ Impairment losses on property, plant and

REERE equipment = 38 372 1,128 372 1,166
EREEEZHERSE Impairment losses on right-of-use assets 800 200 2,106 3,859 2,906 4,059
AEMENE IR E SR E S SN o Inter-segment revenue is charged at amounts agreed by

both parties.
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5. Wz (&)

5. REVENUE (continued)

DEBE R (&) Segment information (continued)
7 BB 55 R R A& 2 B R Reconciliation of segment revenue and results
—E_=F —E_—
2023 2022
TER FTHERx
HK$’000 HK$’000
g Revenue
7 B 2 B Total segment revenue 158,550 174,463
7 B ] U 2= 5 85 Elimination of inter-segment revenue (30,604) (35,937)
127,946 138,526
pEbmA (EBE) Segment profit (loss) 6,393 (20,066)
RATYE  MERREINE Unallocated depreciation of property,
plant and equipment (12,553) (12,053)
AOMERBEENE Unallocated depreciation of right-of-use
assets (29) (1,078)
RAOEWUE - BEKR Unallocated impairment losses on property,
RBEERE plant and equipment - (273)
AOBEREEERERE Unallocated impairment losses on
right-of-use assets - (2,452)
=gib i Other unallocated expenses (33,312) (34,717)
HtW AR Bz R B8 Other income and other gains and losses 14,521 26,170
REMEIAAEEF 2 (Loss) gain on changes in fair value of
(E518) W= investment properties (21,768) 5,984
il & X A Finance costs (2,117) (2,510)
BRF5% A BT 18 Loss before taxation (48,865) (40,995)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

REVENUE (continued)

Segment information (continued)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers; and (ii) the Group’s investment
properties, property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use
assets (“specified non-current assets”). The geographical
location of customers is based on the location at which the
goods were delivered. The geographical location of the
specified non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the asset in the case of investment properties
and property, plant and equipment, and the location of

operations in the case of right-of-use assets.

HREF W EEFRBDEE
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
—E-=& =~ —EB-=fF —E-—
2023 2022 2023 2022
FHET FET FHET FER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BB Hong Kong 70,846 58,552 388,236 417,257
P Macau 15,528 22,095 1,500 4,802
R A b Mainland China 32,095 42,914 183,905 212,240
=01 Taiwan 9,477 12,967 = -
3 N3 Singapore - 1,998 _ _
57,100 79,974 185,405 217,042
127,946 138,526 573,641 634,299
BEHETEEFZEH Information about major customers

BE-E-_=ZER-_S-_—F-—A=+—HIFE"
BERBE-IREFZREHAEERZEEZ
10%3% BA £ ©

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there
was no single external customer that contributed 10% or

more of the Group’s total revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_T-=F=HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

6. HMWA 6. OTHER INCOME
—E-=F —E-C

2023 2022

FTHET FTERx

HK$’000 HK$’000

BRENEHES WAL Gross rental income from investment

properties 4,758 4,898

RITERZFEWA Interest income from bank deposits 17 20

PR 75 & Ut A Service fee income 1,208 1,018

20198 MESHEAZHESRER Covid-19 related rent concessions 3,403 10,082

BT %5 B (BT &E) Government grants (Note) 2,820 1,457

Hith Others 239 190

12,445 17,665
Mz : RAFEE  AEBEM2019BRESHEEEE Note: During the current year, the Group recognised government
R BT RE2,820,0008 T (ZE = F ¢ grants of HK$2,820,000 (2022: HK$1,457,000) in respect of
1,457,000/87T) - EH86,000/87T (ZE -5 : Covid-19 related subsidies, of which HK$86,000 (2022:
194,000 7T) 1,960,000 T (ZF = = F : HK$194,000) and HK$1,960,000 (2022: nil) relates to
|)EFBBNAIRM 2 EE LR8I RIRHZE Distance Business Programme and Employment Support
STEEE - Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government,

7. HitWsmKEiE

respectively.

7  OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

—E-=fF —E-C

2023 2022

THET FTHER

HK$’000 HK$'000

RERLHEEEN 2 WE Gain on early termination of lease contracts 300 9,220

B 5 Ui (B518) F 48 Exchange gain (loss), net 1,606 (886)
HEME - BERRE2WE Gain on disposal of property, plant and

equipment 170 171

2,076 8,505
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

FRERIE S 8. INCOME TAX CREDIT
—E-=fF —E-C
2023 2022
FTHET THER
HK$’000 HK$'000
YR E-BREN Current tax — Outside Hong Kong
NEERBE Provision for the year 317) (259)
EFEFRSHE (BEE22) Deferred tax (note 22) 6,281 307
FriERiiIK & Income tax credit 5,964 48
BREEEMAFFNEREFE CEREEAERE Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
2,000,000 7T K95 F #6542 8.25 % MU B R B - MRS Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of a qualifying
2,000,00058 7T K& A BI#216.5% T B E-HEL - TRFS group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
PRGN EHERFENEEEER NS EFIRI6.5% HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
MR — BB - EERR > MAHFEHEFESE entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
REMSREEHGEUBHERRMEALTEK - regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
b REMEFE  EEBKEXBNWBE QAR The Directors consider the amount involved upon
BT ERBUGENR16.5%t EEBREH - ARA implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
SEAMEFELENEBELEBERB AT SERT insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
BRI ABEEREY  RUBRGESPBEBRRTR Accordingly, Hong Kong Profits Tax for subsidiaries
BEREBEME - operating in Hong Kong is calculated at 16.5% of the

estimated assessable profit for both years. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made in the consolidated
financial statements as the Group did not have assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong or the assessable profits were

absorbed by tax losses for both years.

RIBFREICEMEHE (LEMER ] REEMEH Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)
EERGA > PEAMHEATRMEFEENTES and Implementation Regulation of the EIT law, the tax rate
25% ° of Mainland China subsidiaries is 25% for both years.
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HE-_T-=F=HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

FiERIER (&)

P Z BT S 132,000 P9 T (FE 31,0008
7t) {B{E #300,00052 9 7t (18E 1291,0005 7T ) (Y FE
RBRAEN F3%EI%NBER ZEBHM MESS
FHAREERZNR%NAR BE-_ZE_=ZFR=-F
“F=A=1+-—HLEE BABFETEIER
BB Z B FERRB LA 19 % F{ 58 5600,00002 9 7T
(#8E 582,000/ 5t) * #H600,00002 T (HE R
582,000 7t ) A FERR B % Fl Bl 3% & B B R 12 % M B o

REMEEEE (BEAERITIMNE) EE 2 HIETIIZ
HEREER 2 RITHEFE RBE-ZE=-=F=
B=1T—HLEFE URRERFIMNEZHWEATZ
BEAREDRBI7%(ZE="F 1 17%) B17% (=
TZF 1 17%) °

MRIEBEARR  TRAIAEEERAEBRFERAM
ZOECEE—ZEELFT A=+ —HZEEEZ
EAEE Z 2 IRIR10%F EHMTEH - ARAEE
FENELEXIHEBIMALZHMBLAREESE
BE > BETERTFENFEER 2 ENRRER5% °
EERA AEEEZEVEBRDIRZSRR - T
DER D RZERE BREN 2B BRRDIELFMEH
81&7,115,0008 T (ZZ == : 7,256,000/ T) °

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 7

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

Macau Complementary Tax is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 3% to 9% on the taxable income above
Macau Pataca (“MOP”) 32,000 (equivalent to HK$31,000)
but below MOP300,000 (equivalent to HK$291,000), and
thereafter at a fixed rate of 12%. For the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022, a special complementary tax
incentive was provided to the effect that the tax free
income threshold was MOP600,000 (equivalent to
HK$582,000) with profit above MOP600,000 (equivalent to
HK$582,000) being taxed at a fixed rate of 12%.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions including Taiwan and
Singapore is calculated at the rate prevailing in the relevant
jurisdictions. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
applicable tax rates for subsidiaries domiciled in Taiwan
and Singapore are 17% (2022: 17%) and 17% (2022: 17%),

respectively.

The Group is subject to withholding tax at a rate of 10%
(unless reduced by treaty) on distribution of profits
generated after 31 December 2007 from the Group’s
foreign-invested enterprises in Mainland China. As all of
the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises are directly and
wholly owned by Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries, a
reduced rate of 5% is applicable in the calculation of this
withholding tax. Deferred tax liabilities of HK$7,115,000
(2022: HK$7,256,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution of
these retained profits since, in the opinion of the Directors,
these earnings are not intended to be distributed in the

foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

8. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the

loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

—g=-= —E-C
2023 2022
TER TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
RR%1 Al 5 18 Loss before taxation (48,865) (40,995)
REHBRBREEEES Notional tax at tax rates applicable to losses
BENEARE in the tax jurisdictions concerned
STEZERMIE 9,051 6,695
ARz RBEHE Tax effect of non-deductible expenses (1,565) (1,436)
BAHBAZHELE Tax effect of non-taxable income 1,586 1,392
AERFERBEEBELE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised (5,783) (8,947)
FRNEBAMEHRERZ Tax effect of tax losses utilised during
Risg the year 2,024 1,480
ARERANRERMHER Tax effect of deductible temporary differences
RgEge not recognised 361 (881)
BRALTAREI ZAIMBRERER Utilisation of deductible temporary differences
previously not recognised 290 1,520
HERBRORRAREKER Reversal of taxable temporary differences
upon disposal = 225
5,964 48
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9. FABHE 9. LOSS FOR THE YEAR
FREBES MK (G A) ToI&E : Loss for the year is arrived at after charging (crediting):
—E—= —E=-=
2023 2022
THET FTHER
HK$’000 HK$'000
ETIRA Staff costs
BEEWS (MEE10) Directors’ remuneration (note 10) 8,114 8,503
HE TRA Other staff costs
Fe FHAREMER Salaries, wages and other benefits 47,979 54,631
REMFR MG B Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plan 3,650 4,319
=P Total staff costs 59,743 67,453
AT & Auditors’ remuneration 800 760
M- BERREBTE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 13,462 13,670
FRAREERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 21,542 33,990
WEERE GTAEERA Impairment losses (included in cost of sale,
DHEREERT UARITEHRE distribution and selling expenses and
Hitp &R A) : administrative and other operating
expenses) on:
W% BEREE — Property, plant and equipment 372 1,439
-ERAEEE — Right-of-use assets 2,906 6,511
REVEZHERARERE Rental income from investment properties
X 73,000 7T less direct outgoings of HK$73,000
(ZZE=—% :238,000/& ) (2022: HK$238,000) (4,685) (4,660)
BRARBEI 2FERA Cost of inventories recognised as an expense* 34,666 41,920
RITEERNS Interests on bank borrowings 1,238 1,058
HEEBEZAE Interests on lease liabilities 879 1,452
* BRAAXZFERLBRETIRARTERRZ *  Cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes
6,984,000 T (ZZE = =4 : 8,294,000 T) * B HK$6,984,000 (2022: HK$8,294,000) relating to staff costs
BREFTARZERINAMEBELIREZX B and depreciation, in which these amounts are also included
BEH o in the respective total amounts disclosed separately in this

note for each of these expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Z-ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

10. DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS

including the chief executive, are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2023

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Directors,

E2 3 =
RENEF R
Salaries, T BN
allowances MiEfA Retirement
#&  and benefits  Discretionary scheme A5t
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
FTET TET TET TET TET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
UiTES Executive directors
BREE Mr. Chan - 5,647 - 18 5,665
fhat Ms. Tsui = 3,331 = 18 3,349
BRE% Chan Sze Chun = 420 = 18 438
BUKHTES Independent non-executive
directors
RE% Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 90 - - - 90
KR Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 90 - - _ 90
ENH Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 90 _ _ _ 90
270 9,398 - 54 9,722
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HE-_T-=F=HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

10. EERIFETHRAEME (&) 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
(continued)
BE_E__F=-A=1+—-HLHFE For the year ended 31 March 2022
=4
REMREF R
Salaries, BEIEE
allowances B4 Retirement
#4&  and benefits  Discretionary scheme Bt
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
TERT TERT TERT THET TET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
UTES Executive directors
BREE Mr. Chan - 5,915 - 18 5,933
#hut Ms. Tsui - 3,575 - 18 3,593
BRERL Chan Sze Chun = 429 = 18 447
BUFHTES Independent non-executive
directors
REE Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 90 = - - 90
PNGE Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 90 - - - 90
MR Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 90 = - - 90
270 9,919 - 54 10,243
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

10. EERFETHAEMS (& 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS

e EUERBEYENEENESREZEEYEZ
m{EMH£1,608,000E Tt (ZZ = =4 : 1,740,000/

JT) °

RTEZEZRBRADKSELREE 2 EERET -
VEREEEHE -

REETARRAZEBTHRAE @ KRR LA E
ZHECBRFRESEETRASRERE ZME -

EXFRRBTESHMEERREREERRRAREE
EEBAMEERB2ME -

EXFRBY A TES M EFEAREREESH
RERBME -

REEFER  AEEHEZVHMEeFEEFERTBE
HEMBAREESAMBF 2 RS ABEB@EE - F
N BTESREE RLETRREBEEEHER
Z0ETHE  £F|HHIA99,0008 T (===
144,000 7T) ~ 54,0008 7T (ZF = =% : 79,000/
7T) }360,00058 5T (ZF = =4 : 360,000/&T) ° 7
MEFEAN TEBYIFHTESHEETMAHE -

MR-BE-=F=FA=+—H REXBLEZEAXR
ATBYEHITES BB -_=—FNA—BEEN -
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(continued)

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind include an
amount of HK$1,608,000 (2022: HK$1,740,000) which
represents the market rental value of own properties

provided to Directors.

The discretionary bonuses to the Directors are determined
by reference to the Group’s performance and approved by

the board of directors.

Mr. Chan is also the chief executive of the Company and
his emoluments disclosed above include those for services

rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the

affairs of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive

directors shown above were for their services as Directors.

During both years, no emoluments was paid by the Group
to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. During the
year, the executive directors, Mr. Chan, Ms. Tsui and
Mr. Chan Sze Chun have waived certain of their
emoluments amounted to HK$99,000 (2022: HK$144,000),
HK$54,000 (2022: HK$79,000) and HK$360,000 (2022:
HK$360,000), respectively. None of the independent
non-executive directors has waived any emoluments in

both years.
On 31 March 2023, Dr. Ng Lai Man Carmen has been

appointed as an independent non-executive director of the

Company with effect from 1 April 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_T-=F=HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

1. AEHEEMEA L 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
AUGEEMEALH MU (ZTZZF WU ES Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
ZHEERMEE10EHIEE - Hef=u (ZF==F: (2022: two) are Directors whose emoluments are disclosed
SU)ATZHMESBEEMNT ¢ in note 10. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of

the other three (2022: three) individuals are as follows:

—E-=F —E-C
2023 2022
FTHET THER
HK$’000 HK$'000
H4 RN EYER Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,322 5,350
METEAL Discretionary bonuses 396 200
SRR ET S R Retirement scheme contributions 136 41
5,854 5,591
ZoU(ZE==F  ZN)MEESATZMEET The emoluments of the three (2022: three) individuals with
DEER : the highest emoluments are within the following bands:
A
Number of individuals
—E-= —E——
2023 2022
1,000,0017& 7t — 1,500,000 7T HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1 1
1,500,0017& 7t —2,000,0007 7T HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1 1
2,500,001 7T - 3,000,0007% 7T HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 1 1
12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
RBEZZZFR-Z-FZA=+-HLEFE No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
iR > WG A D EE SRR R IK A S EIRAEM R shareholders of the Company during the years ended 31
B REREHRET FERETMBRE ° March 2023 and 2022, nor has any dividend been

proposed since the end of the reporting period.
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13. LOSS PER SHARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Z-ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to

g5 the owners of the Company is based on the following data:
K15 Loss
—EZ=fF —EF-C
2023 2022
TER FTERx
HK$’000 HK$’000
AU EBRERESEZ Loss for the year for the purposes of
FREBE calculating basic loss per share (42,857) (40,718)
Vi arig 4= Number of shares
—=E-= —E-C
2023 2022
TR TR
000 ‘000
RUGtEEREAXEEZ Weighted average number of ordinary shares
EERMEFLHIH for the purpose of calculating basic loss
per share 287,930 287,930

R 2 R E & E I B[RS FE N 2EBR
- Er 255 RIBESRS -

Diluted loss per share is

not presented as the Company

does not have any dilutive potential ordinary share for both

years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_T-=F=HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

14. ¥ BERRBUARREME

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT

PROPERTIES
R BR
B EER
NUARESE BAZEE
KERRZ kAE
THEEEN Furniture,
Land and fixtures, N BE
buildings computer RREDNG
held for IXRE and office HENE Sub-total
oWn Use R#EH equipment £ of property, REnz
carried at Plant and and motor Leasehold plant and Investment @it
fair value machinery vehicles  improvements equipment properties Total
TEn TEn TEr TEn TER TER TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A E: Cost or valuation:
RZEZ-E@A-A At 1 April 2021 377,028 1,251 20,279 29,779 428,337 297,783 726,120
EiRE Exchange adjustment 3,575 74 180 510 4,339 1,869 6,208
BE Additions - 95 137 2,514 2,746 - 2,746
HE /Hi Disposals/write-off (29,700) - (81) (7,307) (37,088) (54,720) (91,808)
EffES Surplus on revaluation 10,138 = = = 10,138 = 10,138
B BEHBERE Less: Elimination of accumulated
depreciation on revaluation (11,807) - - - (11,807) - (11,807)
RERZERRALERN Increase in fair value recognised in profit
or loss - - - - - 5,984 5,984
RZB-F=R=t-AR At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022
“ER-"EMA-R 349,234 1,420 20,515 25,496 396,665 250,916 647,581
B Exchange adjustment (5,363) (106) (269) (636) (6,374) (2,958) 9,332)
BE Additions - 36 1,626 568 2,230 - 2,230
HE /M Disposals/write-off - (288) (835) (8,502) (9,625) - (9,625)
BihES Deficit on revaluation (1,781) = = = (1,781) - (1,781)
B ERUHRHITE Less: Elimination of accumulated
depreciation on revaluation (12,298) = = = (12,298) - (12,298)
REGZERADAERD Decrease in fair value recognised in
profit or loss = S = S = (21,768) (21,768)
R=B-=f=f=+-H At 31 March 2023 329,792 1,062 21,037 16,926 368,817 226,190 595,007
fik: Representing:
A Cost = 1,062 21,037 16,926 39,025 = 39,025
i Valuation 329,792 - - - 329,792 226,190 555,982
329,792 1,062 21,037 16,926 368,817 226,190 595,007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

14. Y% BERRBEURREWE (& 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES (continued)

& B
5B BHR
BB BAERR
KRR RAE
THEEEN Furniture,
Land and fixtures, VUEN 1
buildings computer RREDNG
held for IRKE and office GRS Sub-total
oWn Use R#EH equipment £ of property, REnz
carried at Plant and and motor Leasehold plant and Investment @it
fair value machinery vehicles  improvements equipment properties Total

TRx TAR TRR TR TR TER TRx
HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$000 HKS'000

fERAE: Depreciation and impairment:
RZE--£mA-A At 1 April 2021 - 1,251 20,279 27,454 48,984 - 48,984
EiBE Exchange adjustment - 71 180 380 631 - 631
REERE Charge for the year 11,920 5 7 1,738 13,670 - 13,670
RE#ZOBREERE (H315)  Impairment losses recognised in profit or

loss (note 15) = 93 122 1,224 1,439 - 1,439
HE/ W Disposals/uwrite-off (113) = (81) (7,307) (7,501) = (7,501)
EfiRHE Elimination on revaluation (11,807) - - - (11,807) - (11,807)

RZB-¥=R=1-AR At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

“E-"EMA-A - 1,420 20,507 23,489 45,416 - 45,416
EjHE Exchange adjustment - (105) (268) (480) (853) - (853)
REERE Charge for the year 12,298 3 131 1,030 13,462 - 13,462
RBRZERABESE (15  Impairment losses recognised in profit or

loss (note 15) - - 1 371 372 - 372
HE /M Disposals/write-off - (288) (835) (8,502) (9,625) - (9,625)
EffBHE Elimination on revaluation (12,298) = = = (12,298) - (12,298)
RZE-=f=f=+-H At 31 March 2023 - 1,030 19,536 15,908 36,474 - 36,474
REFE: Net book value:
R-E-=E=f=1-H At 31 March 2023 329,792 32 1,501 1,018 332,343 226,190 558,533
RZB=Z§=f=1-H At 31 March 2022 349,234 - 8 2,007 351,249 250,916 602,165
MRZEBEZ=F=F=+—H  REHZL{EA121,500,000 As at 31 March 2023, land and buildings held for own use
BT (ZEZZF 127,400,000 ) 2FHEBBZ and investment properties with carrying amounts of
THRRENRRENLCRETEESERER (R HK$121,500,000 (2022: HK$127,400,000) in aggregate
MizE21) © were pledged against bank borrowings (see note 21).
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E-T-_=F=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

14. ¥ BERRBUARREWE (&)

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 7

AEENEZARETE
RZB-=FER-_F__F=A=+—0 &~EEY
E2ARBEDRBEAEEWEBEZSEREEY
XHEMPRAZEMITERARAR-Z_=ZFER_-ZF
TF=RA=1T—HETZAEEREEMSE - RE
EMEBEYMENDAER  AEENSRTHRERED
BLEMNREENEERG R DA ETTENE A Z
5o

RBEEHR  AEENERETEIABERNERF
BEIIWT :

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT

PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties

The fair value of the Group’s properties as at 31 March
2023 and 2022 were arrived at on the basis of valuation
carried out as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 by Centaline
Surveyors Limited, independent firm of qualified
professional property valuers not connected with the
Group. In determining the fair value of the relevant
properties, the Group’s senior executive management has
discussion with the valuer on the appropriate valuation

techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

Details of the Group’s properties and information about the
fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period are

as follows:

R=ZB-=F
=A=t+-—H
ZARE
Fair value as
E=4 at 31 March
Level 3 2023
THET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEMEAAETE Recurring fair value measurement
REYE Investment properties:
BB Hong Kong 95,686 95,686
== )R] Mainland China 130,504 130,504
BFEBRAZ L RESEY : Land and buildings held for own use:
BB Hong Kong 278,115 278,115
& A i Mainland China 51,677 51,677
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZ=4=FA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties

(continued)

RZEZ—F
=R=t+—-H
ZARE
Fair value as
L= at 31 March
Level 3 2022
FTHET TER
HK$'000 HK$’000
BEMAALETE Recurring fair value measurement
REYE Investment properties:
=B Hong Kong 103,557 103,557
A B A b Mainland China 147,359 147,359
HFEBRZLRESEY Land and buildings held for own use:
BB Hong Kong 288,843 288,843
/i A it Mainland China 60,391 60,391
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14. YE -BERRELURKREYWE (&) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT

138
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KEBYE A ARETE(F)

BE-_Z_=F=-FA=+—-HLEFEE REE=AN

BAREH(ZT=-—F: &) °

PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there were no

transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: nil).

BERFUBER

BARE

HERZE Significant
Valuation unobservable & &
techniques inputs Range
RERBZRENE-IX BB MEENEE -12.6%Z%9.0%

Investment properties in Hong Kong Direct comparison EH 2B (hE) (ZE==
— Industrial approach Premium (discount) -7.5%%£13.4%)
on quality of the -12.6% to 9.0%
buildings (2022: -7.5% to 13.4%)
REEBZRENF-BE =8:3:4. 193 HEENEE -43.1%Z5.4%
Investment properties in Hong Kong Direct comparison EH 2R B I E) (===

- Commercial approach Premium (discount) 11.5%%21.1%)
on quality of the -43.1% to 5.4%
buildings (2022: 11.5% to 21.1%)
REPBEIR 2 REWFE-T% LON- N |47 ER(x 3.0%
Investment properties in Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate (ZB==%F :3.0%)
Mainland China - Industrial approach 3.0%
(2022: 3.0%)
RABERE 2 RENE-BE LON- N |47 ERfx 4.0%
Investment properties in Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate (ZEBEZZF :3.9%)
Mainland China - Commercial approach 4.0%
(2022: 3.9%)
RABERE 2 RENE-EE WAEAR{L% ER(x 1.90%
Investment properties in Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate (ZEBEZZF 1 1.75%)
Mainland China - Residential approach 1.90%
(2022: 1.75%)
REPBER 2 RENE-EE EELEBE MEEYEE -12.7%Z1.6%
Investment properties in Direct comparison YEH 2 aE (rE) (ZEZZ=F :3%)
Mainland China - Residential approach Premium (discount) -12.7% to 1.6%

on quality of the
buildings
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(2022: 3%)



14. ¥ BERRBUARREWE (&)

KEBYE A ARETE(F)

A 7 S 5 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Z-ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties

(continued)

BERFUBE
BABE
XD Significant
Valuation unobservable g
techniques inputs Range
REBHFERZLIHREEY-TX EREBE REENES -12.6%Z5.4%
Land and buildings held for own use in Direct comparison EH Z BB (hE) (ZE==
Hong Kong — Industrial approach Premium (discount) -7.5%%12.7%)
on quality of the -12.6% to 5.4%
buildings (2022: -7.5% to 12.7)
REBFFERZLHUREEY -2 ERLEBE REENES -2.7%Z15.8%
Land and buildings held for own use in Direct comparison B 2B E (%) (Z2=Z
Hong Kong — Residential approach Premium (discount) 1.6%%Z16.8%)
on quality of the -2.7% to 15.8%
buildings (2022: 1.6% to 16.8%)
RPBERBFEERZ I REEN-BE ERLEBE REENES -10%Z3.2%
Land and buildings held for own use in Mainland Direct comparison EH ZaEB (hE) (Z&E=-=
China — Commercial approach Premium (discount) -10%Z24.1%)
on quality of the -10% to 3.2%
buildings (2022: -10% to 4.1%)
RPBERGFEERZ I REEN-F= ERLEBE REENES -23.5%%21.9%
Land and buildings held for own use in Mainland Direct comparison EH ZER (FrE) (Z&E=-=
China - Residential approach Premium (discount) 28.7%%£32.1%)

UREBRTEAMBFFERAZLBREZEY Z AR
EBENZ2ZHEABERNFLBRNEEEE  ZQMATS
BEEEETE -

REMEZAAEBELOZEHBAMEAFLBRVEE
B RORTSEEREE R()VEREHEERELE
ZHEREEEFWABRBESNLMEE -

Annual Report 2023 4 B 4¢ it

on quality of the
buildings

-23.5% to 21.9%
(2022: 28.7% to 32.1%)

The fair value of land and buildings held for own use
located in Hong Kong and Mainland China is determined
on an open market value basis, by making reference to the

comparable sales evidence in the relevant locality.

The fair value of investment properties is determined (i) on
an open market value basis, by making reference to the
comparable sales evidence in the relevant locality; or (ii) by
capitalising the current rent derived from the existing
tenancies with the provision for any revisionary income

potential.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E-T-_=F=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

14. ¥ BERRBUARREWE (&)

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 7

KEBYE A ARETE(F)

T4 E SR LN
LS

BEELBUERER SERTE
HEENLER - BEENERERS  RETS
FRE BERQIABETELA -

WABRMOERERNERE REARRZEY VR
SHESER HARUREZERUVEMELAZE -2
AEFERTSHSEEREERR  HERLERR
BERREZ-

BE-Z-=F=ZF=+—HLFE EFKEH
ZTMREEYEE 2 EMEAM,781,0008 T (=
T F  EHAEER10,138,00058 7T) R E b2 E UK
mER o i LMz IFERAZ L REBENREL K
KREBAMENE R-B-_=F=A=+—HZkK
H B 45 542,249,000/ 7t (ZZF = =4 : 45,967,000
BIT) o

BEZZ_=F=HA=1T—HILLFE REVELA
BEELE 2EHE21,768,0008 T (ZE=F :
535,984,000 ) EREHER ©

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT

PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties
(continued)

The premium or discount used in direct comparison
approach is specific to the building compared to the recent
sales. Higher premium or lower discount for higher quality

buildings will result in a higher fair value measurement.

The capitalisation rate used in income capitalisation
approach has been adjusted for the expected market rental
growth, occupancy rate and quality and location of the
building. The fair value measurement is positively
correlated to the market rental value and negatively

correlated to the capitalisation rate.

Revaluation deficit of HK$1,781,000 (2022: surplus of
HK$10,138,000) arising from revaluation of land and
buildings held for own use is recognised in other
comprehensive income during the year ended 31 March
2023. Had the above land and buildings held for own use
been carried at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation,
HK$42,249,000 (2022: HK$45,967,000) at 31 March 2023.

the carrying amounts would have been

The loss arising from changes in fair value of investment
properties of HK$21,768,000 (2022: gain of HK$5,984,000)
is recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
March 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
“=H#Z=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

15. FRAEEE 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
HEME HEWE
-ZBEE -WAE
Leased Leased
properties - properties - ot
retail shop office Total
FET FET FBT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BRAS Cost:
RZE=Z—-FMBE—H At 1 April 2021 183,579 6,775 190,354
[ 5 3 % Exchange adjustment 1,441 392 1,833
BE Additions 1,347 3,530 4,877
HEKTEE Modification of lease term 33,834 = 33,834
REK JJ:#E%A,“’] Early termination of lease
contracts (34,395) (905) (35,300)
HESHNRER Expiration of lease contracts (8,743) = (8,743)
R=ZZ-_%=A=t1—H At 31 March 2022 and
R-ZE-—EMA—A 1 April 2022 177,063 9,792 186,855
B A% Exchange adjustment (1,570) (600) (2,170)
28 Additions 1,041 94 1,135
HEHFRTIES Modification of lease term 6,525 = 6,525
REZ JJ:*EE =F ) Early termination of lease
contracts (4,072) (684) (4,756)
HEEHNER Expiration of lease contracts (18,865) (153) (19,018)
R-ZB-=£=A=+—H At 31 March 2023 160,122 8,449 168,571
HERAE: Depreciation and impairment:
R-ZZE-_-FfMA—H At 1 April 2021 149,721 6,775 156,496
[ 5 3% Exchange adjustment 1,148 391 1,539
AEERE Charge for the year 32,911 1,079 33,990
REZCHRIAREESRE Impairment losses recognised in
profit or loss 4,059 2,452 6,511
REZLBEESN Early termination of lease
contracts (34,167) (905) (35,072)
HESHER Expiration of lease contracts (8,743) = (8,743)
R-ZE--_f=H=+—H At 31 March 2022 and
K—ZE-—_FMA—H 1 April 2022 144,929 9,792 154,721
BE 5 SR 2 Exchange adjustment (1,332) (600) (1,932)
REERE Charge for the year 21,513 29 21,542
REZERIAMESE Impairment losses recognised in
profit or loss 2,906 - 2,906
REZLLHEESN Early termination of lease
contracts (4,072) (684) (4,756)
HEEHNER Expiration of lease contracts (18,865) (153) (19,018)
RZEZ=%5=A=+—H At 31 March 2023 145,079 8,384 153,463
RRERE : Net carrying value:
RZEZ=F=ZH=+—H At 31 March 2023 15,043 65 15,108
R-ZZE-Z_F=A=t+-—H At 31 March 2022 32,134 - 32,134
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HE-_T-=F=HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

15. EAREE (&)

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

—EZ=fF —EF-C

2023 2022

TER FTERx

HK$’000 HK$’000

EHIHE AR X Expense relating to short-term leases 6,131 5,114
RIEHEEERREEZ Variable lease payments not included in the

AEEENR measurement of lease liabilities 7,079 12,464

HEZRSREAE Total cash outflow for leases 44,983 64,127

RMEFE  AKEREXBLEEEAREAE - F
EE BEAREERPLAE -HEGNITL—FE
AENEEES HPDRENEEGE YR
BT E MR R AR o DA RE 78 8 e T 04 A~ 7Y 86 30
B HRE  AEBEASHNERYEES NI AT
ZHAMR ©

ZEFHESAEFECHERERRREETEMA
ERBERAME #ERHEENETES L RAEE
RNEEENREFERERETE o 34 o &3 5015%
AEIEERIER - ARG DEREBEEfEHE
E8& B hERH AERIFNE2TEELE
KA - BE-ZE-_=FfR-Z-_"_F=ZA=+—HL
FE BN/ EMHEEERAZEERAISHEERE
SEEMT :

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 7

For both years, the Group leases factory buildings, retail
shops, department store counters and offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which

the contract is enforceable.

Leases of retail shops are either with only fixed lease
payments terms or contain variable lease payment terms
that are based on certain percentage of sales and minimum
annual lease payment that are fixed over the lease term.
Some variable payment terms include cap clauses. The
payment terms are common in retail shops in Hong Kong,
Macau, Mainland China, Taiwan and Singapore where the
Group operates. The amount of fixed and variable lease
payments paid/payable to relevant lessors for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022:
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(Z-ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

FEREESE (&) 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

BE-Z-_=F=ZA=t+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

ERRNEN EE-INES RBE
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
FTHERT FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEABHENTRZ Retail shops without variable
Z2EE lease payments 1,203 = 1,203
REAZEEFTERZ Retail shops with variable lease
ZEJR payments 32,944 7,079 40,023
34,147 7,079 41,226
BE-_ZT-__F=A=+—HILLFE For the year ended 31 March 2022
B A OE$E:
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
FTHET FHET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WHEASEEENTR 2 Retail shops without variable
ZER lease payments 960 - 960
HEUEBEEFRIERZ Retail shops with variable lease
FTEE payments 47,405 12,464 59,869
48,365 12,464 60,829

ERATENRRRNBEBY B ELSHERRSHNE
EEMEENHEENAERS - HHARBFILME
EMXMETEEHEERNL A EERS

continue to represent a similar proportion of retail shops

sales in future years.
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The overall financial effect of using variable payment terms
is that higher rental costs are incurred by retail shops with

higher sales. Variable rent expenses are expected to
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HE-_T-=F=HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2023
15. ERAEEE (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-=F=ZF=t+—HLFE ZEZEEH
FEEAREEMNERAAZBR1Z6ER R 10%
B2100% (ZE2=ZZF : 12128 A R10%ZE100%)
WHESAREERMHEESER -

H2019BRAESHEBENEEEREENZIHSR
RSB B HREELE16.46BEMN A HRMLE - &
AEEEAUTRESETFTHEREBEAEMAA
BB -BE_ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE BR
HEAMMEEEE TR EHR3,403,0008 T (=F
— =% :10,082,0008Tt) r REENREHNEE
BRABAUSEELR GEAEMUYA) -

ARG
HAR2019BRESHREERANEESTEFHRREX
F AEEEEERRFERETSR - XHABEEHR
BEEURYE BRERREZTKE £ BEETRHE
S o

EREEEENTHRESENREBEEAEETEME
EoZsrEFEARSRETE  EEBAUCEASEE
EEEME RESREEEENFKRHESHRNG
BKEE AR-—Z_=F=A=1+—HWRHAEE
F13.5% (ZFZ=F 1 13.5%) BE%E - FAEAET
BEE-BFERIAEEENR  HRESREEL
BUBRATREUREEBHMSEENEHRMERE -

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 7

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Rent concessions

During the year ended 31 March 2023, lessors